THE AMERICAN UNIVERSITY OF BEIRUT

WHOLE GENOME CHARACTERIZATION OF G9P[4] AND G9P[8] ROTAVIRUS STRAINS IDENTIFIED IN LEBANON

BY AMANDA AZAKIR

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science to the Department of Experimental Pathology, Immunology and Microbiology of the Faculty of Medicine at the American University of Beirut

> Beirut, Lebanon September 2018

AMERICAN UNIVERSITY OF BEIRUT

WHOLE GENOME CHARACTERIZATION OF G9P[4] AND G9P[8] ROTAVIRUS STRAINS IDENTIFIED IN LEBANON

by

AMANDA AZAKIR

Approved by:

Hassan Zaraket, Ph.D.

Assistant Professor, Department of Experimental Pathology, Immunology, and Microbiology

mW

Advisor

Ghassan Dbaibo, M.D.

Professor, Department of Pediatrics and Adolescent Medicine and Biochemistry Professor, Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Genetics

Ghassan M. Matar, Ph.D.

Professor and Vice Chair, Department of Experimental Pathology, Immunology, and Microbiology

Ditt

Nada M. Melhem, Ph.D.

Member of Committee

Member of Committee

Member of Committee

Associate Professor, Department of Infectious Diseases and Microbiology Medical Laboratory Sciences Program Faculty of Health Sciences

Date of thesis defense: September 5,2018

AMERICAN UNIVERSITY OF BEIRUT THESIS, DISSERTATION, PROJECT RELEASE FORM

Student Name:	Azakir	Amanda	Mahmoud
-	Last	First	Middle
Master's T	hesis	Master's Project	O Doctoral Dissertation

I authorize the American University of Beirut to: (a) reproduce hard or electronic copies of my thesis, ansertation, or project; (b) include such copies in the archives and digital repositories of the University; and (c) make freely available such copies to third parties for research or educational purposes.

I authorize the American University of Beirut, to: (a) reproduce hard or electronic copies of it; (b) include such copies in the archives and digital repositories of the University; and (c) make freely available such copies to third parties for research or educational purposes after :

One year from the date of submission of my thesis, dissertation, or project. Two years from the date of submission of my thesis, dissertation, or project. Three years from the date of submission of my thesis, dissertation, or project.

17 Signature

This form is signed when submitting the thesis, dissertation, or project to the University Libraries

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to primarily thank my advisor, Dr. Hassan Zaraket, of Department of Experimental Pathology, Immunology, and Microbiology at American University of Beirut. The devoted guidance, supervision and motivation have allowed my thesis project to keep on flourishing. I am so grateful to have been proctored and advised by someone as patient and caring as he is.

I would also like to thank the Columbia University Mailman School of Public Health for their help in making this thesis project happen and especially for Dr. Ian Lipkin and his team for their cooperation, dedication and commitment.

Furthermore, I would like to thank the rest of my thesis committee for their time, effort and cooperation.

Of course, I would like to thank my team members who have included me in their amazing and warming Z-lab. Every single one of you always had an open ear for any difficulties I have faced. You have advised me when I needed it and made me laugh and forget my frustrations, when I did not expect it.

Above all, I would like to thank my family and my best friend and sister Kawthar for their unconditional love, encouragement and support. You have given me the strength I needed and you have borne with me when I was unbearable. I can always count on you in all aspects of my life and this is the greatest bless that god could have given me.

AN ABSTRACT OF THE THESIS OF

<u>Amanda Azakir</u>

for

<u>Master of Science</u> <u>Major:</u> Microbiology and Immunology

Title: Whole Genome characterization of G9P[4] and G9P[8] Rotaviruses strains identified in Lebanon

Rotavirus is considered globally the leading cause of severe diarrheal infections among children under the age of 5 years and is responsible for about 215 000 deaths annually. Rotaviruses are classified based on their outermost shell proteins, VP7 (G-genotype) and VP4 (P-genotype) with at least 36 G genotypes and 51 P genotypes identified up-to-date. Although there are common globally circulating genotypes (G1P[8],G3P[8], G9P[8],G2P[4]), the segmented genome of the virus and possible vaccine pressure might explain the emergence of unique genotypes such as G9P[4]. In Lebanon, a hospital-based study conducted between 2011-2013 revealed that 30.3% of gastroenteritis-hospitalizations were attributed to rotavirus A (RVA), with major genotypes being G1P[8] (36%) and G9P[8] (26.4%). Newly emerging, unique genotypes such as G9P[4] constituted <1%.

In this study we performed full genome characterization these unique G9P[4] strains and one G9P[8] strain in Lebanon by using virome capture technology and phylogenetic analysis. Our goal was to elucidate their origin and genetic relatedness compared to globally circulating G9P[4] and G9P[8] specimens as well as their genetic vaccine matching.

One G9P[4] specimen was of pure DS-1 like origin and the remaining two were of mixed and diverse Wa-like/DS-1-like genotypes: RVA/Human/LEB/A095/2011/G9P[4] (G9-P[4]-I2-R2-C2-M2-A2-N2-T2-E2-H2), RVA/Human/LEB/H017/2011/G9P[4] (G9-P[4]-I1-R1-C1-M1-A2-N1-T1-E1-H1). The RVA/Human/LEB/NG184/2011/G9P[8] was of pure Wa-like origin (G9-P[8]-I1-R1-C1-M1-A1-N1-T1-E1-H1). Phylogenetic analysis revealed that the G9P[4] strains with mixed genomic constellation emerged from a reassortment events between G2P[4] and G9P[8] stains. Overall, unlike the G9P[8] strains' pure genomic backbone, multiple lineages of G9P[4] seemed to have emerged globally. The analysis indicated that Lebanese G9P[4] strains seemed to have emerged through multiple introductions or reassortment events. The G9P[8] strain shared common ancestry with Ethiopian G9P[8] providing potential clues regarding their geographic spread. Overall, the G9 strains' antigenic epitopes were highly conserved among each other but contained a large number of mutations compared to the vaccine strains. This warrants further investigations to monitor the evolution and spread of these emerging genotypes in Lebanon and globally and to determine the efficacy of current vaccines against them.

CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	V
ABSTRACT	vi
LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS	x
LIST OF TABLES	xi

Chapter

I. INTRODUCTION1
A. Gastroenteritis 1
1. Definition1
2. Etiology 1
B. Rotavirus
1. Role of rotavirus in gastroenteritis 2
2. Discovery of Rotavirus 2
3. Transmission
4. Clinical Symptoms
5. Diagnosis 4
C. Rotavirus structure and classification
1. Rotavirus structure
2. Rotavirus protein functions
3. Rotavirus replication cycle

4. Pathogenesis	
5. Rotavirus classification	
6. Rotavirus genotyping	
D. Rotavirus burden	
E. Regional and Local Burden of Rotavirus	14
1. Epidemiology in the Middle Eastern and North African (MENA) region	14
2. Epidemiology in Lebanon	15
F. Rotavirus geographic distribution of G9P[4] and G9P[8]	16
C. Immunological machanisms underlying a reterring infaction	20
G. Immunological mechanisms underlying a rotavirus infection	
H. Rotavirus vaccines	
II. AIMS OF THE STUDY	24
III. MATERIALS AND METHODS	25
A. Specimens	
B. Ethical statement	25
1. RNA extraction	
2. Virome Capture sequencing	
3. Sequence Analysis	
4. Phylogenetic Analysis	
IV. RESULTS	30
A. Patient History	
B. Genotypic constellation of strains	
C. Phylogenetic Analysis and Sequence Identity	

D. Phylogenetic analysis summary
E. Amino acid sequence identity between Lebanese rotavirus A strains and vaccine viruses . 51
F. VP7 antigenic epitopes of the Lebanese RVA strains and vaccine viruses
G. VP4 antigenic epitopes of circulating Lebanese RVA strains and vaccine viruses
H. Comparison of the antigenic epitopes among the globally circulating G9P[8] and G9P[4]
rotaviruses
V. DISCUSSION
BIBLIOGRAPHY

ILLUSTRATIONS

Figure	Page
1.	Electron micrograph of rotavirus
2.	Rotavirus structure
3.	Rotavirus replication cycle
4.	Rotavirus burden of disease
5.	Probability of rotavirus infection upon repeated exposure in children
6.	FastQC analysis report
7.	Comparison of the Lebanese G9P[8] and G9P[4] viruses with selected human strains 33
8.	Phylogenetic trees
9.	Summary of the phylogenetic trees
10. Rotariz	Distance matrix for VP7 and VP4 based on amino acid identities between RotaTeq and x vaccines and Lebanese specimens
11. RotaTo	Alignment of antigenic residues in VP7 between the strains contained in Rotarix and eq and Lebanese specimens
12.	Alignment of antigenic residues in VP4 between the strains contained in Rotarix and
RotaTe	eq and Lebanese specimens
13.	Alignment of antigenic residues in VP7 between reference strains and Lebanese specimens
14.	Alignment of antigenic residues in VP4 between reference strains and Lebanese specimens

TABLES

Table		Page
1.	Rotavirus protein functions	8
2.	Geographic distribution of globally circulating G9P[4] strains	18
3.	Geographic distribution of G9P[8]	19

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

A. Gastroenteritis

1. Definition

Gastroenteritis is defined as the inflammation of the stomach or intestinal lining due to an infection or ingestion of drugs or toxins. Patients suffering from this disease, typically present with diarrhea, vomiting and abdominal pain (Boyce, 2017). Gastrointestinal infections can be divided into (i) non-inflammatory or infectious diarrheal diseases (ii) inflammatory gastroenteritis, which start as watery diarrhea but can result in blood or mucus filled feces and finally (iii) systemic gastroenteritis in which the pathogen has spread from the stomach to other areas in the body (Vaishanvi, 2013). Infectious gastroenteritis majorly impacts the pediatric population with about 5 billion episodes occurring worldwide annually (Cochran, 2017). Treatment of gastroenteritis is generally symptom based and therefore includes oral hydration therapy (ORT) and focus on adequate nutrition (Duggan, Santosham & Glass, 1992).

2. Etiology

Organisms causing gastroenteritis include bacteria, parasites, and viruses. The severity of the diseases caused by these pathogens varies with different age groups (de Wit et al, 2001). Bacterial gastroenteritis can be caused by *Escherichia, Salmonella* and *Campylobacter species* (O'Ryan et al, 2014). Parasitic agents include *Cryptosportidium, Isospora* and *Giardia* (Vaishanvi,

2013). Nevertheless, the leading cause of acute watery diarrhea in children under 2 years of age and the second cause in children between 24 and 60 months, is rotavirus (O'Ryan et al, 2014).

B. Rotavirus

1. Role of rotavirus in gastroenteritis

Rotavirus is considered the major cause of gastroenteritis-associated hospitalizations and deaths in children under 5 years of age (de Zoysa & Faechem, 1985; Parashar et al, 1998; Operario et al, 2017). The mortality rates due to non-rotavirus diarrhea are decreasing due to successful preventive measurements. Nevertheless, controlling rotavirus burden still seems challenging and can be explained by (i) mode of transmission of rotavirus, which is primarily person-to-person and therefore improvements in sanitation or water supplies are ineffective (ii) oral hydration therapy lacks sufficient effectiveness in rotavirus diseases due to the severe vomiting and finally (iii) no antimicrobial therapy against rotavirus infections (Parashar et al, 2006).

2. Discovery of Rotavirus

In the 1960s, Adams and Kraft observed a virus-like particle in mice intestinal tissue, in which the mice were orally administered with epizootic diarrhea of infant mice (EDIM) (Adams & Kraft, 1963). One year later, in 1973 Flewett et al, observed a 70nm thin-section electron microscopy of human rotavirus in a duodenal mucosa sample (Flewett et al, 1973). Interestingly, Flewett et al also later described virus particles in the feces of young children with acute gastroenteritis that were indistinguishable in size and shape from those in newborn calves. Since these viral particles were different from norovirus and reovirus, they were designated as rotavirus, based on their wheel like structure (Flewett et al, 1974).

3. Transmission

Rotavirus is highly contagious. The infectious dose is as low as 10 particles (Ward et al, 1986). It is mainly transmitted via the fecal-oral route; as such, the site of replication and the symptoms manifested due to a rotavirus infection are primarily gastrointestinal (Kapikain et al, 1983). The respiratory transmission mode could also play a role in rotavirus infection due to the inhalation of rotavirus infected respiratory droplets from a diseased child (Zheng et al, 1991). Zheng et al observed 25 out of 89 infants with rotavirus particles in oropharyngeal aspirates and the detection of rotavirus in the oropharyngeal aspirate was independent of the presence of rotavirus in the feces, development of diarrhea or vomiting; however, it was associated with respiratory manifestations. The incubation period of rotavirus infection is usually 2-3 days and symptoms persist for 3-8 days. Furthermore, virus shedding can start prior to the appearance of symptoms and last until after they have resolved (Richardson et al, 1998).

4. Clinical Symptoms

The major symptoms of a rotavirus infection are gastrointestinal; however, the clinical representation of the disease differs among children and adults. Although it is difficult to identify a rotavirus gastroenteritis based on the clinical symptoms alone, children typically present with high fever and more severe vomiting and diarrhea than other gastroenteritis illnesses (Coffin et al, 2006). Subsequent fluid loss could result in dehydration and electrolyte imbalance. If symptomatic treatment and supportive measures, such as fluid replacement therapies, are not available or not taken, the disease might worsen, causing seizures and eventually death (Lynch et al, 2003). Although, rotavirus RNA was detected in the spleen, lymph node, heart, lung, testes, kidney, and

bladder, there is no evidence of a direct rotavirus infection in these organs (Lynch et al, 2003). Similarly, Blutt et al discovered rotavirus antigenemia and viremia in infected mice, which could explain the presence of rotavirus in extra-intestinal cells (Blutt et al, 2006). A study by Hemming et al, reported that 61% of rotavirus infected children experienced a rotavirus antigenemia, which was associated with increased severity of fever and vomiting (Hemming et al, 2014). Nevertheless, the impact of rotavirus antigenemia on extra-intestinal symptoms, is still not well understood. In adults, the symptoms are generally less complicated and might include subclinical or no clinical manifestations mainly due to the development of immune protection against rotavirus during early childhood (Kim et al, 1977). Nevertheless, rotavirus infection in adults is underappreciated since adults with underlying health conditions might experience worsening of their underlying disease, which can be potentially fatal (Friesma et al, 2012).

5. Diagnosis

Rotavirus diagnosis is done using stool specimens (Yolken et al, 1988). Several diagnostic tools exist for rotavirus. Electron microscope (EM) represents one of the earliest methods for rotavirus identification based on the observation of virus particles with wheel-like structure (Figure 1) (Roingeard, 2012). However, this technique is time consuming and requires a high level of technical skills. This is why scientists relied on serological techniques such as immunofluorescence that proved to be more reliable, easier to perform, and faster (Yolken et al, 1977). Furthermore, methods that can detect rotavirus antigens using rotavirus group-specific monoclonal antibodies were developed, such as the sandwich enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) (Beards et al, 1984). More recently, rapid antigen detection kits were developed and deployed in clinical use. This technique is advantageous because it is relatively cheap, user-

friendly, equipment-free, and can be used at point-of-care (Ope et al, 2017). Nonetheless, molecular techniques such as reverse-transcriptase polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) are considered the gold-standard for diagnosis of rotavirus nowadays because of their timeliness and improved sensitivity and specificity (Pang et al, 2004).



Figure 1: Electron micrograph of rotavirus (Roingeard, 2012)

C. Rotavirus structure and classification

1. Rotavirus structure

Rotavirus belongs to the family *Reoviridae*. Mature virions are non-enveloped, triplelayered in nature and harbor 11 gene segments of double-stranded RNA (Prasad & Estes, 1997). The genes code for 5 non-structural (NSP1, NSP2, NSP3, NSP4, NSP5) and 6 structural/viralproteins (VP1, VP2, VP3, VP4, VP6, VP7) proteins (Jayaram et al, 2004). The number after each structural protein name is based on its molecular weight; VP1 being the largest. VP4 is proteolyticaly cleaved into VP5* (stalk) and VP8* (globular head) and the latter is the smallest



Figure 2: Rotavirus structure (Viral Zone, 2011)

among the structural proteins (Estes et al, 1981). Cryoelectron microscopy and image analysis revealed that outer and inner capsid of the virus has icosahedral lattice symmetry and the space between the capsids forms an open aqueous pathway, responsible for the passage of ions, small regulatory molecules and dsRNA genome (Yeager et al, 1990). The core consists of the dsRNA, VP1 and VP3, which make up the single-layered particle (SLP) (Figure 2). The double-layered particle (DLP) includes a thin layer of VP2 surrounded by VP6 trimers (Prasad et al, 1996; Mathieu et al, 2001). The addition of the VP4 and VP7 glycoproteins gives rise to the triple-layered particles (TLP) or the infectious virion (Shaw et al, 1993).

2. Rotavirus protein functions

The functions of the rotavirus proteins are summarized in table 1. VP2 protein binds directly to the RNA, whereas the VP1 protein is the RNA-dependent RNA polymerase. VP3 is a methyl and guanylyl transferase enzyme and is important in post-transcriptional modifications, such as 5' capping (Petrie et al, 1982: Petrie et al, 1984: Richardson et al, 1986; Bisaillon and Lemay, 1997).

VP6 protein plays an important role in virus morphogenesis by interacting with the inner layer protein VP2, and outer layer VP4 and VP7 proteins and it is also involved in RNA transcription (Pesavento et al, 2006; Blutt et al, 2007). The VP4 is an outermost dimer protein consisting of a distal globular head (VP8*) that mediates cell attachment, and a Fab binding region (VP5*) that is crucial for cell penetration. Blockage of the VP5* region by antibodies neutralizes infectivity and inhibits viral entry into the cell (Prasad et al, 1990). VP7 is a calcium binding glycoprotein that is target for neutralizing immunity (Prasad et al, 1987). In general, non-structural proteins are involved in various functions such as replication, genome packaging, and translation. For instance, NSP1 acts antagonistically on type 1 interferons, therefore promoting viral survival by inhibiting antiviral immune responses (Barro and Patton, 2005). NSP2 is an NTPase and helps in genome replication and packaging (Afrikanova et al, 1998), whereas NSP3 is detrimental in viral mRNA translation (Piron et al, 1998). NSP5 protein is a protein kinase (Mattion et al, 1991). The NSP4 protein has a dual function by contributing to viral morphogenesis (Tian et al, 1996) and functioning as an enterotoxin that triggers the typical gastrointestinal symptoms (Ball et al, 1996).

Table 1: Rotavirus protein functions

PROTFIN(S)	FUNCTION(S)		
VD1	DNA demondent DNA nelvmenses		
VPI	KINA - dependent KINA polymerase		
VP2	RNA binding		
VP3	Guanylyl and methyl transferase		
VP6	Extra - intestinal spread		
VP4	Virulence and viral entry		
VP7	Rough endopasmic reticulumintegral membrane glycoprotein &		
	viral entry		
NSP1	Antagonist of interferon response		
NGDA	Company and institution (no shorting Q NTD)		
NSP2	Genome replication/packaging & NTPase		
NSP3	Viral mRNA translation & shuts off host protein synthesis		
NSP4	Viral enterotoxin & viral morphogenesis		
NSP5/NSP6	Protein kinase & constituent of viroplasm		
	1		

3. Rotavirus replication cycle

Rotavirus surface glycoprotein VP4, mediates binding and attachment to cell surface receptors via its VP8* subunit (Ruiz et al, 2009). Studies have demonstrated that the viral hemagglutinin, VP8*, binds to sialic acid receptors via the induced-fit model and thus mediates initial cell attachment (Dormitzer et al, 2002). In support of these observations, researchers showed that treatment of sialidase-sensitive strains with sialidase, reduced binding (36%) and infection (77%) (Haeselhort et al, 2009). Nevertheless, a new region in the VP8* structure that is similar to the carbohydrate-binding region of galectin might be responsible for carbohydrate binding in sialidase insensitive rotavirus strains (Blanchard et al, 2007). Interestingly, some human rotaviruses have the ability to bind to human histo-blood group antigens. As such, a study has shown that out of 85 children tested positively for rotavirus, all were either human histo-blood group antigens secretors or partial secretors (Trang et al, 2014). Following binding, the virus is then internalized via calcium-dependent endocytosis (Ruiz et al, 2000). Through simple diffusion or active transport mechanisms, calcium (Ca^{2+}) ions start to exit the endocytic vesicle into the cellular compartment (Gerasimenko et al, 1998). Once endosomal and cytoplasmic calcium levels equilibrate, disruption and release of VP7 occurs followed by destabilization of VP4 protein. The VP5* will interact with the endosomal membrane and mediate fusion and pore formation, allowing the DLP to exit to the cytoplasm as illustrated in Figure 3 (Ruiz et al, 1997; Crawford et al, 2017). Once in the cytoplasm, the DLP is transcriptionally activated to transcribe mRNA, which will eventually be translated into viral proteins in the cytoplasm (Cohen et al, 1979; Charpilienne et al, 2002). When the number of translated proteins exceeds threshold, they will accumulate in the viroplasm where synthesis of viral RNA genome occurs and finally the DLP assembly (Silvestri et al, 2004). The newly synthesized DLPs bud into the endoplasmic reticulum (ER), a process that is facilitated by binding

of NSP4 to the ER. As a result, the DLPs acquire a "pseudoenvelope" derived from the ER membrane (Altenburg, Graham and Estes, 1980). In the ER, the high Ca²⁺ concentrations mediate virus maturation, which is completed with the acquisition of the VP7 and VP4 proteins and the loss of NSP4 and the "pseudoenvelope" (Ruiz, Cohen and Michelangeli, 2009). Release of the progeny virions occurs via cell lysis or Golgi-independent non-classical vesicular transport (Crawford et al, 2017).



Figure 3: Rotavirus replication cycle (Crawford et al, 2017)

4. Pathogenesis

The pathogenesis of rotavirus-induced diarrhea is complex and involves a variety of factors. Viral entry into the intestinal enterocytes and the subsequent viral replication leads to an increase in Ca²⁺ concentrations. This increase in Ca²⁺ ions disrupts the cytoskeleton and tight junctions and thus harms the integrity of the enterocytes (Ruiz et al, 2000). Destruction of the enterocytes leads to malabsorption and subsequent diarrhea (Kapikian, Hoshino and Chanock, 2001). The viral enterotoxin (NSP4) can trigger intracellular remodeling of actin and thus possibly cause disassembly of the microvilar F-actin, leading to destabilization of the enterocytes (Brunet et al, 2000). Furthermore, NSP4 triggers increase in the calcium efflux from the ER by activating the phospholipase-C (PLC) pathway and activates the enteric nervous system (Dong et al, 1997). The latter results in the release of neurotransmitters that will increase gastrointestinal motility and activate the vomiting centers in the medulla oblongata of the brainstem (Lundgren et al, 2003).

5. Rotavirus classification

The International Committee on Taxonomy of Viruses (ICTV) have classified rotavirus into 10 groups (A-J) based on the amino acid sequences of the VP6 protein (Crawford et al, 2017; Banyai et al; 2017; Mihalov-Kovacs et al, 2015; Matthijnssens et al, 2012). Groups A, B and C usually cause infections in humans and animals, whereas groups D, E ,F and G infect animals (Estes and Kapikian, 2007). Rotavirus group A is the most common cause of human infections (Li et al, 2016). Reassortment events are more likely to occur within the same group than across different groups, thus increasing the diversity of a certain rotavirus group (Yolken et al, 1988). Further, rotavirus is designated into two subgroups (1 and 2) based on the antigenic domains of the VP6 protein (Estes and Kohen, 1989; Lopez et al, 1994). Each subgroup can be further classified into serotypes on the basis of the outermost shell proteins, VP7 and VP4 (Kalicia et al, 1983; Kalicia et al, 1981). Neutralization tests using cell culture as well as indirect immunofluorescence, allowed the differentiation of rotavirus strains into various serotypes (Bears et al, 1980). The advent of molecular techniques including sequencing motivated scientists to shift from serotype to genotype; the latter is based on the genetic changes within the VP7 and VP4 segments. (Gentsch et al, 1992; Lopez-Tort et al, 2015).

6. Rotavirus genotyping

A binary classification is used to designate rotaviruses into G and P genotypes based on the genetic diversity of VP7 glycoprotein and the VP4 protease-sensitive protein, respectively (Hoshino and Kapikian, 1996). In addition, a more recent, full genome-based classification system was developed to distinguish the genotype of every genome segment with the following nomenclature: Gx-P[x]-Ix-Rx-Cx-Mx-Ax-Nx-Tx-Ex-Hx, representing the genotypes of VP7-VP4-VP6-VP1-VP2-VP3-NSP1-NSP2-NSP3-NSP4-NSP5, respectively, with x being an integer (Matthijenssens et al, 2011). These can be further classified into three major groups. The Wa-like genotype of porcine-origin is represented by I1-R1-C1-(...) and includes G1P[8], G3P[8],G4P[8],G9P[8] (...). The DS-1-like strains having bovine-origin, possess I2-R2-C2-(...) including among others G2P[4]. Finally, representing the minority of strains is the AU-1-like with feline origin, I3-R3-C3-(...) and includes G3P[9] genotype (Matthijnssens and Ranst, 2012). There far 36 Р are G genotypes and 51 genotypes SO (https://rega.kuleuven.be/cev/viralmetagenomics/virus-classification/rcwg) with G1, G2, G3, G4 and G9 in combination with either P[4] or P[8] being the most common genotypes associated with human infections (Banyai et al, 2012).

D. Rotavirus burden

Parashar et al estimated that between 1986 through 2000 there were approximately 111 million episodes of diarrhea, 25 million clinic visits, 2 million hospitalizations and 440.000 deaths each year in children under the age of 5 years (Figure 4) (Parashar et al, 2003). The World Health Organization (WHO) estimated that rotavirus resulted in 215,000 deaths in 2013 (Tate et al, 2016), indicating a decrease of almost 50% since 1986-2000. Furthermore, data by the WHO indicated that in 2013, the majority of global rotavirus mortality, occurred in India with 47,100 cases accounting for 22% of all rotavirus deaths, followed by Nigeria with 14%, Pakistan with 7% and Democratic Republic of the Congo with 6% (Tate et al, 2016). In Latin American and Caribbean countries, an estimate of 10 million rotavirus-associated diarrhea episodes, 1 million medical visits, and 75,000 hospitalizations were recorded in 2004 (de Oliveira, 2015). Nevertheless, the introduction of the vaccine into these countries significantly decreased rotavirus burden. As such, after the introduction of the vaccine in Latin America in 2015, the mortality rate of rotavirus decreased by 22-41% and rotavirus hospitalizations decreased by 59-81% (Desai et al, 2011). Such data emphasize the efficacy of rotavirus vaccines on decreasing rotavirus burden.



Figure 4: Rotavirus burden of disease (adapted from Parashar et al, 2003)

E. Regional and Local Burden of Rotavirus

1. Epidemiology in the Middle Eastern and North African (MENA) region

Rotavirus constitutes a major burden in the Middle East and North Africa region (MENA) accounting for 14-33 % of in- and outpatient gastroenteritis-associated visits of children-aged 2-6 years. Overall, G2P[4] was the most common genotype in 19 out of 24 MENA countries followed by G1P[8] and G9P[8] (Zaraket et al, 2017). Furthermore, G1P[8] represented 22.2% of all rotavirus positive specimens in Turkey during 2009-2010. This was followed by G1P[4] with 17.33%, G2P[4] accounting for 13.8% and finally G9P[4] and G9P[8] strains constituting 6.3% and 4.8%, respectively (Yarkin et al, 2016). In the same time frame in the UAE, acute gastroenteritis and rotavirus-associated gastroenteritis hospitalizations accounted for 12% and 6%,

respectively. Furthermore, G1P[8] was the major genotype with 56.3% out of all rotavirus strains (Howidi et al, 2014). In Tunisia, the frequency of rotavirus group A between 2009-2014 was approximately 24% and out of those tested positive for rotavirus A, G1P[8] accounted for 34.4%, G3P[8] 16.3% and finally G9P[8] 10.3% of cases (Moussa et al, 2016). Recently, a newly emerging rotavirus G6P[6] was associated with 30% of gastroenteritis cases in Africa, shedding, the light on the risk for emergence of new rotavirus genotypes (Lekana-Douki et al, 2015). Furthermore, Azaran et al published data from 2011-2012 in Iran showing that G1P[8] (80%) and G2P[4] (20%) were the major strains among RVGE cases, which constituted 36.5% of all GE cases (Azaran et al, 2016). Finally, a recent paper in Turkey investigated rotavirus-positive cases between 2014-2016 and found that the most common genotypes were G1P[8] (24.6%), G3P[8] (19.6%), and G9P[8] (12.2%). (Durmaz et al, 2017).

2. Epidemiology in Lebanon

In Lebanon, limited research exists on rotavirus. The first set of data came from Al- Ali et al in 2011, whereby rotavirus was found to account for 48% of diarrhea cases between April to May 2010. The median age was 8.5 months and the most prevalent symptoms were diarrhea and vomiting. The majority of these cases happened in Tripoli, northern Lebanon and Minyeh-Danniyeh regions. However, this study did not perform genotyping of the circulating strains and was performed over the span of two months only which might explain the relatively high prevalence of rotavirus (Al-Ali et al, 2011). Another study by Dbaibo et al from 2011-2012, reported that 27.7% of acute gastroenteritis cases in children under 5 years of age were caused by rotavirus (Dbaibo et al, 2013). Additionally, a hospital-based study conducted between 2011 and 2013 reported that rotavirus was responsible for 30.3% of gastroenteritis-associated hospitalizations among Lebanese children under 5 years old and the peak activity was seen during the winter season (Ali et al, 2016). The most common genotypes were G1P[8], G9P[8], and G2P[4] constituting 36%, 26.4%, and 17.8% of all positive rotavirus strains, respectively. Several unique or rare genotypes represented less than 1 % of the cases, and included G9P[4] strains. The emergence of this genotype in Lebanon and globally warrants in-depth genome analysis and a better understanding of its geographic spread.

F. Rotavirus geographic distribution of G9P[4] and G9P[8]

The G9P[4] genotype has been reported in various countries in 4 continents at a frequency ranging between 0.11-80% (Table 2) (Shareen et al, 2015; Chitambara et al, 2014; Doan et al, 2017; Satish et al, 2017). The highest prevalence (36% - 80%) of rotavirus G9P[4] was reported in Latin America (Mexico, Guatemala, Honduras, and Brazil) and Japan. Although, it must be noted that these studies analyzed a small number of samples (<50 per country) and thus might not reflect the true prevalence of this genotype. While in Asia, Europe, and South America, the frequency of the G9P[4] genotype ranged between 0.11%-14.9%. A trend towards increasing prevalence of G9P[4] was noted globally.

G9P[8] genotype was found at a frequency between 0.5%-87.5% in 5 continents (Table 3) (Chieochansin et al, 2016; Tiku et al, 2014; Kim et al, 2013; Meyer et al, 2008). In a global study including 56 countries in 5 continents G9P[8] genotype presented in 4.1% of all rotavirus positive strains (Santos et al, 2005). The region that seems to constitute the majority of G9P[8] strains is India, ranging between 4.9%-15.3% from 2000 to 2012 (Tiku et al, 2014; Samajdar et al, 2008; Chitambar et al, 2014). G9P[8] strains dominated in Poland between 2005-2007 (Meyer et al,

2008). G9P[8] strains represent a similar geographic spread as the G9P[4] genotype, although the latter is less frequent.

Country	Frequency	Year	Reference	
India	2.60%	2009-2011	George et al. Intern J of Scientific Study. 2015	
	10.10%	2011-2012	Chitambara S et al. Vaccine.2014	
	8%, 11.5%,	2011, 2012,	Doan Y et al. Infection, Genetics, Evolution.	
	24%	2013	2017	
	28.60%	2012-2013	Satish S et al. Indian J of Med Microbiol. 2017	
	5.3%	2014-2015	Selvarajan S et al. Indian J Med Microbiol. 2017	
	11 Kol	2011-2013	Doan Y et al. Infection, Genetics, Evolution. 2017	
	42%	Jan – June 2016	Babji S et al. Vaccine. 2017	
Mexico	61.50%	2010	Yen C et al. J of ID. 2011	
Mexico	80%	2009 - 2010	Quaye O et al. Emerging Infectious Diseases.	
Guatemala	66%		2013	
Honduras	36%			
Japan	35.30%	2011-2012	Yamamoto S et al. J of Medical Virology. 2015	
Ghana	1.4%; 1.3%;	2013; 2015;	Lartey B et al. Vaccine. 2018	
	15.7%	2016		
Brazil	14.90%	2005-2006	Munford V et al. J of ID. 2009	
Italy	13.60%	2016-2017	Ianiro G et al. Infection, Genetics, Evolution. 2018	
Turkey	6.30%	2009-2010	Yarkın F et al. J Immunol Clin Microbiol. 2016	
Kenya	4.0%	2009-2014	Wandera E et al. J Med Virol. 2016	
Korea	3.0%	Jan – Jun 2013	3 Kim M et al. Korea Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2014	
Nepal	2.6%	2010	Giri S et al. Vaccine. 2018	
Pakistan, Lahore	2.27%	2008-2009	Alam M et al. PLOS ONE. 2013	
Denmark	1.20%	1998-2002	Fischer T et al. J Clin Microbiol. 2004	
Canada	0.77%	2007-2010	McDermid A et al. BMC ID. 2012	
UK, London	0.11%	2006-2007	Gomara M et al. Epidemiological Infection.	
	0.19%	2007-2008	2010	
	0.24%	2008-2009	1	
USA	1 LB1562	2010	Lewis J et al. American Society for Microbiology. 2014	

Table 2: Geographic distribution of globally circulating G9P[4] strains

 Table 3: Geographic distribution of G9P[8]

Country	Frequency	Year	Reference
India	4.9%	2000-2007	Tiku V et al. Vaccine. 2014
	5.4%	2007-2012	
	G9 (10.1 %), P[8] (54.4%), P[4] (31.4%), G9P[8] (8.6%)	2005-2006	Samajdar S et al. J of Clin Virol. 2008
	15.3%	2009	Chitambar S et al. Vaccine. 2014
	2.3%	2012-2013	Nayak et al. Archieves of Virol. 2018
6 European countries (Czech Republic, Germany, Italy, Poland, Spain, UK)	87.5 % Poland (majority)	2005-2007	Meyer N et al. ESPID. 2008
Thailand	79.1%	2015-2016	Chan-It & Chanta. J Med Virol. 2017
China	58.2%	2015	Kang & Cai. Intervirology. 2015
Argentina	54.1%	2006-2007	Stupka J et al. Infect, Gen, Evolution. 2009
Sweden	42.9%	2001-2002	Rubilar-Abreu E et al. J of Clin Microbiol. 2005
Hungary	42.8%	2012	Doro R et al. Infection, Genetics, Evolution. 2011
Latin America	29%	2001-2003	Linhares A et al. Oxford Journals. 2006
France	32.1%	2014-2015	Kaplon J et al. Clin Microbiol Inf. 2018
USA, Detroit	G9 (39.5%), P[8] (66.5%), G9P[8] (20.6%)	2007-2009	Abdel-Haq N et al. J of Med Microbiol. 2011
Sri Lanka	17.9%	2009-2015	Palihawadana P et al. Vaccine. 2018
France	G9 (27.4%), P[8] (92.9%)	2006-2009	De Rougemont A et al. Pediatr Infect Dis.2011
Ethiopia	11.5%	2015-2016	Gelaw A et al. Infect, Gen, Evolution. 2018
Egypt	10.8%	2015-2016	Allayeh K et al. Arch Pediatr Infect Dis. 2018
Korea	9.7%	2002-2003	Jeong H et al. Clin Microbiol and Infect. 2011

Russia	6.6%	2009-2014	Kiseleva V et al. Virologica
			Sinica. 2018
Global	4.1%	1989-2004	Santos N et al. Rev Med
			Virol.2005
Thailand, Bangkok0.5%2012		2012	ChieochansinT et al. Infection,
			Genetics, Evolution. 2016

G. Immunological mechanisms underlying a rotavirus infection

Studies have suggested that transplacental immunity plays an important role in the protection from infectious pathogens (Kohler and Farr, 1966). However, this immunity is only short lived and after approximately 3 months the child is susceptible to new infections until the age of 2 years (Bishop et al, 1983). As shown in figure 5, the probability of the first rotavirus infection increases with age during the first 2 years of life. However, the probability and severity of a subsequent infection decreases (Velázquez et al, 1996). In fact, research has shown that children who naturally acquired two infections were almost 100% protected against a moderate-to-severe rotavirus disease (Velázquez et al, 1996). Almost 50% of the children who acquired a third infection were either asymptomatic or experienced a mild illness. Therefore, these observations formed the basis for the design of the vaccination strategy for rotavirus. It was thought that if two vaccine doses were administered at a 4-8 week interval during early childhood, a protective immune response should be developed against a third infection. As a result, children

should be 100% protected from moderate-to-severe diseases and 50% protected from a rotavirus infection.



Figure 5: Probability of rotavirus infection upon repeated exposure in children (adapted from Velázquez et al, 1996/ Reduction in the probability of rotavirus infection was used as a principle for rotavirus

H. Rotavirus vaccines

There are currently two live attenuated rotavirus vaccines that are administered orally. These vaccines stimulate local immunity and duplicate the natural route of rotavirus infection (Glass et al, 2005). The development of rotavirus vaccines started with the usage of animal strains that were naturally attenuated in humans, such as bovine G6 and modified WC3 bovine G6 strains. This Jennerian approach however, did not evoke an innate immune response (Vesikari et al, 1984; Clark et al, 1988; de Mol et al, 1986; Christy et al, 1988). Consequently, Rotashield vaccine, which consisted of a rhesus-human reassortant rotavirus, was developed and introduced for use in children. However, it was soon removed from the market due to increased risk of intussusception in association with vaccine administration (Bernstein et al, 1995; Hochwald and Kivela, 1999; Dennehy et al, 2008).

These failures lead to the development of the current vaccines, Rotarix and RotaTeq. Rotarix (GlaxoSmithKline Biologicals, Rixensart, Belgium), a monovalent (G1P[8]) vaccine, is given at the ages of 2 and 4 months (Ward and Bernstein, 2009). While, RotaTeq (Merck & Co. Inc., West Point, PA, USA) vaccine is a pentavalent vaccine consisting of G1, G2, G3 and G4 of human origin and P[8] of bovine origin and is administered in three doses at the ages of 2, 4 and 6 months (Heaton and Ciarlet, 2007). The minimum age for administering both vaccines is 6 weeks (WHO, 2013; Ward and Bernstein, 2009; Heaton and Cialet, 2007). Both vaccines have been shown to provide heterologous protection as well, whereby Rotarix can protect against G3P[8], G4P[8] and G9P[8] viruses (Steele et al, 2012) and Rotateq can also protect against G9 strains (El Khoury et al, 2011). The efficacy and safety of these vaccines has been well demonstrated. As such Rotarix protected 85% against rotavirus gastroenteritis and rotavirus associated hospitalizations and 100% against more severe rotavirus gastroenteritis. Similarly, RotaTeq protected up to 98% against severe rotavirus gastroenteritis and reduced clinic visits for G1-G4 rotavirus genotypes by 86% (Ruiz-Palacios et al, 2006; Vesikari et al, 2006). Therefore, these vaccines were licensed and globally implemented since 2006 (WHO, 2013). Recent data suggest there are 82 countries who have introduced rotavirus vaccines into their national immunization programs (Kirkwood et al, 2017). The introduction of vaccines resulted in a significant decrease in rotavirus overall burden; nearly 40.000 to 50.000 hospitalizations were prevented in the United Stated (CDC, 2016). In Africa, 31 out of 47 Member States had introduced rotavirus vaccination by December 2016. The overall rotavirus vaccine coverage in these states was 77%, which was associated with a significant decline in pediatric diarrheal hospitalizations (Jorba et al, 2017).

In addition to the currently available vaccines, other vaccine candidates have been developed or are under development (Kirkwood et al, 2017). As such, a naturally occurring

G9P[11] reassortant between bovine P[11] gene and human rotavirus genes was isolated from an Indian child in Delhi, India. The strain was named 116E and the Indian rotavirus vaccine ROTAVAC[™] (Bharat Biotech International Ltd., Hyderabad, India) was introduced by the government into the Universal Immunization Program (UIP) in 2015 after successful safety and efficacy trials (Bhandari et al, 2014). In addition to that, a bovine-human reassortant pentavalent (G1, G2, G3, G4 and G9 serotypes) rotavirus vaccine (BRV-PV) was recently developed in in India and has passed phase 3 clinical trials. This vaccine demonstrated 90% efficacy against severe RVGE caused by G1, G2, G3, G9 and G12 rotavirus strains and was found to be safe and costeffective (Prasad et al, 2017). Furthermore, in Melbourne, Australia a human rotavirus strain G3P[6], RV3 that was isolated from the stool of asymptomatic newborns provided protection against subsequent rotavirus disease (Bishop et al, 1993). This vaccine passed phase 1 as well as early phase 2 trials and is the only strain covering the unique VP4 P[6] genotype which is becoming prevalent in Africa and Asia.

CHAPTER 2

AIMS OF THE STUDY

<u>Major aim</u>

To characterize the full genomes of G9P[4] rotavirus A specimens identified in Lebanon between 2011-2013.

Sub-aims

- To evaluate the geographic distribution and relatedness of the Lebanese G9P[4] specimens to globally representative G9P[4] strains.
- To assess the relatedness of the unique Lebanese G9P[4] specimens with the more common G9P[8] viruses from Lebanon and worldwide.
- To assess the genetic vaccine matching of the Lebanese G9P[4] and G9P[8] strains.

CHAPTER 3

MATERIALS AND METHODS

A. Specimens

The specimens, RVA/Human/LEB/H017/2011/G9P[4] (H017), RVA/Human/LEB/H119/2011/G9P[4] (H119), RVA/Human/LEB/A095/2011/G9P[4] (A095), and RVA/Human/LEB/NG184/2011/G9P[8] (NG184) were identified during a prospective hospital-based epidemiologic surveillance in children under 5-year-old hospitalized for gastroenteritis. The study was conducted in seven medical centers in Lebanon during January 2011 through June 2013 (Ali et al, 2016).

B. Ethical statement

Sample collection was conducted according to Good Clinical Practice and the 1996 version of the Declaration of Helsinki and was approved by the institutional review board (IRB). The specimens were collected upon obtaining a written informed consent from the parents or guardians. Participants' numbers were assigned sequentially to all children and data collection and analysis were performed respecting participants' autonomy and anonymity.

1. RNA extraction

Total RNA extraction was performed on 10% stool suspensions containing 0.5g of the fecal sample to 5mLof NaCl solution (0.89%) using the QIAmp® Viral RNA Mini Kit (Qiagen, Germany) according to the manufacturer's spin column protocol. RNA was eluted in 45 µl RNase-free distilled water and stored at -20°C until further analysis.
2. Virome Capture sequencing

Virome capture was performed in collaboration with Dr. Ian Lipkin at Columbia University Mailman School of Public Health as previously described. The strengths of VirCapSeq – VERT rely in its sensitivity and specificity, which allow the detection of the complete genome sequence of novel viruses and viral variants with a 100- to 10,000-fold increase on target reads compared to other high-throughput sequencing techniques such as conventional virome enrichment Illumina sequencing (Briese et al, 2015). Briefly, the RNA extract was reverse transcribed using SuperScript III (Thermo, Fischer) with random hexamers and the cDNA was treated with RNase H using Klenow fragment (New England Biolabs) a double-stranded cDNA/DNA was created, which was sheared to a fragment size of 200bp using Covaris E210 focused ultrasonicator. The product was purified using AxyPrep. The libraries were synthesized using KAPA library preparation kits (KAPA) with Roche/NimbleGen adapter kits, which include a library of oligonucleotides designed to target the genomes of all reported rotaviruses known to infect animals and humans. The quality and quantity of the libraries were checked using a Bioanalyzer (Agilent). Next, the libraries were mixed with SeqCap HE universal oligonucleotide, SeqCap HE index oligonucleotides, and COT DNA and vacuum evaporated at 60°C for approximately 40 minutes. A hybridization mix was prepared using the dried samples and 2X hybridization buffer and hybridization component A (Roche/NimbleGen) prior to denaturation at 95° C for 10 minutes. After the VirCap probe library was added and hybridized in a standard PCR thermocycler, the SeqCap Pure capture beads were mixed with the hybridization mix. The streptavidin capture beads complexed with biotinylated VirCapSeq-VERT probes were trapped (DynaMag-2 magnet; Thermo, Fischer) and washed with buffers of increasing stringency. Finally, the suspended beads were subjected to post-hybridization PCR and the PCR products were purified (Agencourt Ampure

DNA purification beads; Beckman Coulter, Brea,CA, USA) and quantitated by Bioanalyzer (Agilent). The purified product was sequenced by using the Illumina HiSeq 2500 platform (Illumina) (Briese et al, 2015).

3. Sequence Analysis

The quality of the sequencing reads was assessed by using the quality control application for high throughput sequence data implemented in FastQC software (https://www.bioinformatics.babraham.ac.uk/projects/download.html). A total of 74,627,595, 2,997,752, 85,237,647 and 21,685,310 sequences were obtained for the specimens H199, A095, H017 and NG184, respectively. All samples were of good quality according to the FastQC analysis report (Figure 6). The reads were then imported into Geneious 11.0.2 for further processing and sequence assembly. Trimming was performed to remove low quality sequences and the reads were assembled using the map-to-reference tool and a reference rotavirus genome, which was obtained from GenBank. The consensus sequence for each genome segment was then manually edited. The BLAST tool was used to search the database for the closest reported rotavirus genome based on the sequence identity. The Virus Pathogen Database and Analysis Resource (VIPR) (https://www.viprbrc.org/brc/rvaGenotyper.spg?method=ShowCleanInputPage&decorator=reo) was used to determine the genotype of each genome segment. Nucleotide and amino acid sequence similarity matrices calculated using the BIOEDIT software were (http://www.mbio.ncsu.edu/BioEdit/bioedit.html).



Figure 6: FastQC analysis report based on "per base sequence quality" of the Lebanese samples

4. Phylogenetic Analysis

Individual gene segments of our specimens were aligned using CLUSTAL W alignment tool in BIOEDIT software with 1) genotypically similar strains obtained from the NCBI virus variation online tool (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/genomes/VirusVariation/Database/nphselect.cgi?taxid=28875), 2) closest BLAST hits and 3) reference strains obtained from the literature, in addition to Wa-like and DS-1 like rotavirus A prototype strains. Maximum likelihood (ML) phylogenetic trees were constructed on the basis of the best fit nucleotide substitution model for each gene as implemented in MEGA 7.0 (Kumar et al, 2016).

The Tamura 3-parameter model with gamma distribution (T92+G) was used for VP7, NSP2, NSP3, NSP4, NSP5, VP1 and VP6, Hasegawa-Kishino-Yano model with gamma distribution (HKY+G) for VP4, General Time Reversible with gamma distribution (GTR+G+1) for NSP1, VP3, and Tamura-Nei's model with gamma distribution (TN93+G) for VP2.

Initial trees for the heuristic search were obtained by applying the Neighbor-Joining method to a matrix of pairwise distances estimated using the Maximum Composite Likelihood (MCL) approach. A non-parametric bootstrap sampling analysis with 1000 replicates of the ML tree was applied using the best nucleotide substitution model.

CHAPTER 4 RESULTS

A. Patient History

The four specimens included in this study were obtained from patients aged 0.5 – 4 years and all had severe gastroenteritis as indicated by their vesikari scores, which ranged between 11-18. Vesikari clinical severity scoring system identifies the severity of a rotavirus gastroenteritis based on the clinical presentation profile. A score above or equal to 11 out of 20 belongs to the category "severe" (Lewis, 2011; Ruuska & Vesikari, 1990). The average duration of hospitalization was 4 days and three out of the four patient experienced high grade fever before being administered to the hospital. Furthermore, one of the patients harboring the H017 G9P[4] rotavirus strain, was has previously received two doses of RotaTeq vaccine.

B. Genotypic constellation of strains

The full genome constellation of human rotavirus A strains of NG184, H199, H017 and A095 were assigned as G9-P[8]-I1-R1-C1-M1-A1-N1-T1-E1-H1 (NG184), G9-P[4]-I1-R1-C1-M1-A2-N1-T1-E1-H1 (H199), G9-P[4]-I2-R2-C2-M2-A2-N1-T2-E2-H2 (H017) and G9-P[4]-I2-R2-C2-M2-A2-N2-T2-E2-H2 (A095). The complete genotype constitution of the study strains were compared with different globally circulating G9P[8], G9P[4] and non-G9 strains (Figure 7). NG184 G9P[8] possessed a pure Wa-like genome constellation which was common for G9P[8] strains reported globally. G9P[8] strains with DS-1 like or mixed constellation were also reported, albeit rare. A095 G9P[4] exhibited DS-1 like genome constellation which was previously reported in the USA and Bangladesh. H199 and H017 G9P[4] strains showed mixed genomic constellations

that were not observed in any of the previously reported G9P[4] strains. As such, H199 constituted of 10 genes with Wa-like origin and 1 gene with a DS-1 like origin, whereas H017 contained 10 genes of DS-1 like origin and 1 gene of Wa-like origin. Based on our analysis and previously reported data the G9P[4] genome seemed to be more flexible for reassortment accommodating genes from diverse backgrounds. G9P[4] with mixed backgrounds including 1-2 genes from diverse origins on the backbone of a DS-1 like constellation were reported in India, Japan, Paraguay, and Hungary.

Strain						Gen	otype				
Stram	VP7	VP4	VP6	VP1	VP2	VP3	NSP1	NSP2	NSP3	NSP4	NSP5
RVA/Hu-tc/USA/Wa/1974/G1P1A[8]	G1	P8	I1	R1	C1	M1	A1	N1	T1	E1	H1
RVA/Hu-tc/USA/DS-1/1976/G2P1B[4]	G1	P4	I2	R2	C2	M2	A2	N2	T2	E2	H2
RVA/Human/LEB/ H199/2011/G9P[4] ^a	G9	P4	I1	R1	C1	M1	A2	N1	T1	E1	H1
RVA/Human/LEB/ H017/2011/G9P[4]	G9	P4	I2	R2	C2	M2	A2	N1	T2	E2	H2
RVA/Human/LEB/ A095/2011/G9P[4]	G9	P4	I2	R2	C2	M2	A2	N2	T2	E2	H2
RVA/Human/LEB/NG184/2011/G9P[8]	G9	P8	I1	R1	C1	M1	A1	N1	T1	E1	H1
RVA/Human-wt/BEL/B3458/2003/G9P[8]	G9	P8	11	R1	C1	M1	A1	N1	T1	E1	H1
RVA/Human-wt/BGD/Bang-062/2009/G9P[8]	G9	P8	I1	R1	C1	M1	A1	N1	T1	E1	H1
RVA/Human-wt/CHN/km15007/G9P[8]	G9	P8	11	R1	C1	M1	A1	N1	T1	E1	H1
RVA/Human-wt/ETH/MRC-DPRU842/2012/G9P[8]	G9	P8	11	R1	C1	M1	A1	N1	T1	E1	H1
RVA/Human-wt/HUN/FRN5009/2012/G9P8	G9	P8	11 11	R1	C1	M2	A1	N1	T1	F1	H1
RVA/Human-wt/ITA/ASTI23/2007/G9P[8]	G9	P8	11 11	R1	C1	M1	A1	N1	T1	F1	H1
RVA/Human-wt/ITA/AV21/2010/G9P[8]	G9	P8	11 I1	R1	C1	M1	A1	N1	T1	El	H1
$RVA/Hu_wt/ITA/AV28/2010/G9P[8]$	G9	P8	11 I1	R1	C1	M1	A1	N1	T1	F1	H1
$\frac{1}{2010} \frac{1}{2010} \frac{1}{2010$	GO	D8	11 T1	R1	C1	M1	A 1	N1	т1 Т1	E1	ні H1
RVA/Human wt/IPN/To1/ 30/2014/C0P[8]	GO	10 D8	11 T1	R1	C1	M1	Λ1	N1	т1 Т1	E1	нн Н1
RVA/Human wt/IPN/IP1/ 16/2014/G9P[8]	GO	D8	11 T1	R1	C1	M1	A1	N1	т1 Т1	E1	н 111 111
RVA/Human_wt/MO7/21155/2011/G9P[8]	G9	1 0 P8	11	K1	CI	1411	X	111	11	EI	111
$RV_{\Delta}/Human_wt/PRV/3SR/2002/G9P[8]$	G9	P8	T1	R 1	C1	M1	Δ1	N1	Т1	F1	H1
RVA/Human wt/SEN/MRC_DPRU2051/2000/G0D[8]	GO	10 D8	11 T1	R1	C1	M1		N1	T1	E1	нн Н1
RVA/Human wt/TCO/MPC_DDD15122/0010/C0D[8]	C0		11 T1	D1	C_1	M1		N1	т1 Т1		111 Ц1
RVA/Human wt/IGA/MSK 12.048/2012/C0D[8]	C9	го D9	11 12	RI D2	C_{2}	M2	A1 A2	N2	11 T2	E1	111 Ц2
RVA/Human wt/UCA/MIII 12 162/2012/C0D[8]	C0		12	R2 D2	C_2	M2	A2	N2	12 T2	E2 E2	112
RVA/HullaiFW/UGA/MUL-13-103/2013/G9P[8]	C9		12 11	Κ2 D1	C_2		A2	N1	12 T1	E2 E1	
RVA/HullaiFW/USA/2009/2/093/2009/G9F[8]	C9		11 T1	KI D1	C1	M1	A1	N1	11 T1		
KVA/Hullall-W/USA/VU12-15-101/2015/09P[8]	C9	го ро	11 T1	KI D1	C_1	IVII M1	A1	IN I NI I	11 T1		
K VA/Human Wt/ZAE/MPC DDD1/2711/2008/C0P[8]	G9 G0		11 T1	KI D1	C1	M1	A1	N1	11 T1		П1 U1
KVA/HullaiFW/ZAF/MRC-DFRU2/11/2008/09F[8]	G9 C0	ro Do	11 T1				AI	IN I	11 TT1		
RVA/Human-wt/ZWE/MRC-DPRU102/2012/G9P[8]	G9	P8	11 11	KI D1		MI	AI	N I	11	EI E1	HI
RVA/Human-Wt/ZWE/MRC-DPRU1841/2009/G9P[8]	G9	P8	11 11	KI D1		MI	AI	N I	11	EI	HI
RVA/Human/Bethesda/DC3/2009/G9P[8]	G9	P8	11 11	RI	CI	MI	Al	NI	T1 771	X	HI
RVA/Human-wt/BEL/BE00045/2009/G1P[8]	GI	P8	11 11	RI	CI	MI	Al	NI	T1 771	EI	HI
RVA/Human-wt/BEL/BE00045/2009/G1P[8]	GI	P8	11 11	RI	CI	MI	Al	NI	T1 771	EI	HI
RVA/Human-wt/UGA/MUL-13-15//2013/G1P[8]	GI	P8	11 11	RI D1	C2	MI	Al	NI	TI TI	EI	HI
RVA/Human/Victoria/CK00015/2005/G1P[8]	GI	P8	11	RI	CI	MI	Al	NI	TI	EI	HI
RVA/Human-wt/ESP/SS96217158/2015/G3P[8]	G3	P8	12	R 2	C2	MI	A2	N2	12	E2	H2
RVA/Hu/RUS/Nov03-H54/2003/G4P[8]	G4	P8	I1					Х			
RVA/Human-wt/Croatia/CR2006/2006/G8P[8]	G8	P8	I1	R1	C1	M1	A1	N1	T1	E1	H1
RVA/Human-wt/THA/SKT-98/2013/G1P[8]	G8	P8	I2	R2	C2	M1	A2	N2	T2	E2	H2
RVA/Hu-wt/ITA/ME659/14/2014/G12P[8]	G12	P8	I1	R1	C1	M1	A1	N1	T1	E1	H1
RVA/Hu-wt/ITA/ME864/12/2012/G12P[8]	G12	P8	I1	R1	C1	M1	A1	N1	T1	E1	H1
RVA/Human-wt/BGD/Bang-068/2008/G9P[4]	G9	P4	I2	R2	C2	M2	A2	N2	T2	E2	H2
RVA/Human/IND/RV09/2010/G9P[4]	G9	P4	I2	R2	C2	M2	Х	N2	T1	Х	H2
RVA/Human/IND/RV11/2010/G9P[4]	G9	P4	I2	R2	C2	M2	A2	N2	T2	E6	H2
RVA/Human/IND/RV10/2010/G9P[4]	G9	P4	I2	R2	Х	M2	A2	N2	T2	E6	H2
RVA/Human-wt/IND/Kol-006/2011/G9P[4]	G9	P4	I2	R2	C2	M2	A2	N1	T2	E6	H2
RVA/Human-wt/IND/Kol-040/2012/G9P[4]	G9	P4	I2	R2	C2	M2	A2	N1	T2	E6	H2
RVA/Human-wt/ITA/AN18/2016/G9P[4]	G9	P4	I2	R2	C2	M2	A2	N2	T2	E2	H2
RVA/Human-wt/JPN/S120088/2012/G9P[4]	G9	P4	I2	R2	C2	M2	A2	N2	T1	E2	H2
RVA/Human/KOR/Seoul1918/2012/G9P[4]	G9*	P4*	I1	R1	C1	M1	A1	N1	T1	E1	H1
RVA/Human-wt/PRY/1157A/2007/G9P[4]	G9	P4	I2	R2	C2	M2	A2	N2	T1	E3	H2
RVA/Human-wt/USA/LB1562/2010/G9P[4]	G9	P4	I2	R2	C2	M2	A2	N2	T2	E2	H2
RVA/Human/AUS/RCH041/2010/G2P[4]	G2	P4	I2	R2	C2	M2	A2	N2	T2	E2	H2
RVA/Human-wt/AUS/CK20028/2006/G2PI41	G2	P4	I2	R2	C2	M2	A2	N2	T2	E2	H2
RVA/Human-wt/BGN/J331/2010/G2P[4]	G2	P4	I2	R2	C2	M2	A2	N2	T2	E2	H2
RVA/Human-wt/ESP/SS68949094/2015/G2P[4]	G2	P4	I2	R2				Х			
RVA/Human-wt/JPN/CH1020/2016/G2P[4]	G2	P4	I2	R2	C2	M2	A2	N2	T2	E2	H2
RVA/Human-wt/JPN/MI1132/2016/G2PI41	82	P4	I2	R2	C2	M2	A2	N2	T2	E2	H2
RVA/Human-wt/USA/CNMC123/2011/G2P[4]	G2	P4	I2	R2	C2	M2	A2	N1	T2	E2	H2
RVA/Hu/RUS/O1117/2011/G2P[4]	G2	P4*	I2					X			

Figure 7: Comparison of the Lebanese G9P[8] and G9P[4] viruses with selected human strains; Lebanese specimens are in bold; green shaded area indicates Wa-like origin; red shaded area indicates DS-1 like origin; yellow shaded area indicates unique genotype; X indicates no data available; * indicates partial genome

C. Phylogenetic Analysis and Sequence Identity

<u>VP7</u>

Based on the VP7 phylogenetic tree (Figure 8a-8a.1), all Lebanese strains clustered within the G9 lineage as expected. The NG184, A095 and H199 viruses clustered closely within the G9 lineage (90.9% to 93.9% nucleotide sequence identity) as opposed to the H017, which distantly located to these specimens (90.5% to 98.0%) despite belonging to the same lineage. H017 G9P[4] was found in a separate sub-lineage and was closely related to the Indian KOL-29-09 G9P[4], American LB1562 G9P[4] viruses (98.3% to 99.8%) as well as G9P[8] viruses from China, Japan, Belgium, and Bangladesh.

NG184 G9P[8] and the A095 and H199 G9P[4] specimens were most closely related to the Ethiopian MRC-DPRU842 G9P[8] (91.4%, 92.9%, 98.9%), the Italian AV28 G9P[8] (90.9%, 92.8%, 98.7%) and the Mozambique 21155 G9P[8] viruses (91%, 93.5%, 99.5%). Interestingly, these three human Lebanese specimens shared common ancestry with porcine G9P[19] and G9P[23] strains that were identified in Thailand, Japan, and China; Japanese BU9 G9P[23] (86.2% to 92.1% sequence identity), Chinese NMTL G9P[23] (87.4% to 93.8% sequence identity), Belgian 14R166 G9P[7] (86.7% to 92.8% sequence identity) and Italian 3BS G9P[23] (86.4% to 91.7% sequence identity). This suggests a potential interspecies transmission of the G9 strains between humans and pigs. The VP7 tree analysis also highlights the common ancestry of the of the VP7 gene of the G9P[4] and G9P[8] strains.

VP4

The VP4 phylogenetic tree (Figure 8b) classified the NG184 G9P[8] specimen into the expected P[8] lineage and A095, H017 and H199 G9P[4] into the P[4] lineage. NG184 G9P[8] shared highest similarity with Ethiopian MRC-DPRU842 G9P[8] virus (99.5% sequence identity), Senegal MRC-DPRU2051 G9P[8] and Jordanian J597 G1P[8]strains (99% to 99.4%), as well as Belgian and South African G9P[8] strains.

H199 and A095 G9P[4] are very closely related to each other on the phylogenetic tree (98.9% nucleotide identity). Both Lebanese specimens clustered near Australian RCH041 G2P[4] virus (97.2% to 99.7% identity), Japanese S120088 G9P[4] (98.2% to 98.3%) and Paraguayan 1157A G9P[4] (98.5% to 98.7%) specimens. H017 G9P[4] was most closely related to American LB1562 G9P[4] strain (99.3% sequence identity) and clustered near Bangladesh Bang-068 G9P[4] and J331 G2P[4] samples (99% to 99.4% sequence identity).



(a.1) VP7 G9



G9



(b) VP4



Figure 8: Phylogenetic analysis of full-length nucleotide sequences of the VP7 (a), VP7-zoomed in G9 lineage (a-1), VP4 (b), NSP1 (c), NSP2 (d), NSP3 (e), NSP4 (f), NSP5 (g), VP1(h), VP2(i), VP3 (j), VP6 (k) genes of human Lebanese specimens with other globally circulating RVA strains. The tree was generated by using the maximum-likelihood method in MEGA V8.0 and a bootstrap value of 1000. Bold font represents the Lebanese study specimens. Blue shapes and font represents strains of Wa-like origin and orange shapes and fonts represent strains of DS-1-like origin. Green bold font represents Lebanese NG184 strain, pink bold font represents Lebanese A095 strain. Blue gradient boxes indicate different sublineages of Wa-like origin. Orange gradient boxes indicate different sublineages of Wa-like origin. For convenience purposes, VP7 and VP4 genotypes are colored based on different sublineages and non-Lebanese singletons are not assigned sublineages.

<u>NSP1</u>

The NSP1 gene (Figure 8c) of the NG184 G9P[8] clustered within the A1 genotype and was distantly related to the other Lebanese specimens (81.2% to 89.5%). A095 and H017 G9P[4] clustered in the two sublineages A2.2/ A2.3 (97.3%), whereas H199 G9P[4] was a singleton designated sublineage A2.1 (85.0% to 86.0% sequence identities). Although, NG184 G9P[8] showed highest nucleotide sequence identity with Italian JES11 G9P[8] and Ethiopian MRCU-DPRU842 G9P[8] (92% to 92.5%), they did not display a significant evolutionary relationship, as they clustered far from each other.

Interestingly, H199 G9P[4], which belonged to A2, showed high nucleotide sequence identities with the majority of strains from A1, such as Lebanese NG184 G9P[8] (89.5%), Italian AV28 G9P[8] and Hungarian ERN5016 G9P[8] viruses (86.9%). Samples that showed comparable nucleotide sequence identities and belonged to the same A2 genotype as H199 include Pakistani PAK93 G1P[6], Australian CK20027/28 G2P[4], and Bangladesh J331 G2P[4] (shared 86.2% sequence identities). A095 G9P[4] exhibited maximum similarity with Australian RCH041 G2P[4] strain (99.7%) and fell on the same branch as American CNMC123 G2P[4] and Japanese MI1132 G2P[4] viruses (98.4% to 99.1%). H017 G9P[4] was most closely related to Indian Kol-040 G9P[4] and American LB1562 G9P[4] samples (99.1% to 99.5% sequence identities). A095

and H017 also clustered near other Bangladesh, Australian, Pakistan, American and Spanish viruses.

<u>NSP2</u>

The NSP2 genes (Figure 8d) of H199 G9P[4], H017 G9P[4] and NG184 G9P[8] (89.9% to 99.1% sequence identities) clustered within two different sublineages in the N1 genotype, whereas A095 G9P[4] clustered separately within the N2 genotype. H199 G9P[4] was found to exhibit maximum similarity with Chinese E956 G3P[8] strain (99.6% sequence identity) as well as Chinese km15093 G9P[8] and Zimbabwe MRC-DPRU1102 G9P[8] strains (98.7% to 99.3%). Additionally, it clustered near Belgian, Italian, Japanese and American viruses. H017 G9P[4] was most closely related to Belgian BE00045 G1P[8] specimen (99.5%) and fell on the same branch as Korean Seoul0373 G9P[8], Korean Seoul0918 G9P[4] and Italian ME659 G12P[8] strains (98.3% to 98.5% sequence identities). As such, H199 and H017 G9P[4] viruses clustered in two different clades of the same N1.1 sublineage, which clustered distantly from NG184 G9P[8] in sublineage N1.2. NG184 was identical to Ethiopian MRC-DPRU842 G9P[8] strain and was related to RVA/Human-wt/Croatia/CR2006/2006/G9P8 and Senegal MRC-DPRU2051 G9P[8] viruses (99.1% to 99.6% sequence identities).

A095 G9P[4] specimen shared ancestry with Australian RCH041 G2P[4] and Japanese MI1132 G2P[4] viruses (99.3% to 99.7%) and was related to a variety of globally circulating strains from countries such as Bangladesh, Uganda, China and Paraguay.

NSP3

The NSP3 gene (Figure 8e) of NG184 G9P[8] and H199 G9P[4] clustered in the sublineages T1.2 and T1.3 of the T1 genotype (94.8% sequence identity). On the contrary, although A095 and H017 G9P[4] viruses clustered in sublineages T2.2 and T2.3 they were more related to each other (96.6% identity) than NG184 and H199. Although NG184 G9P[8] shared high nucleotide sequence identity with Italian ME864 G12P[8], Ethiopian MRC-DPRU842 G9P[8] and Belgian BE00094 G1P[8] strains (94.7% to 95.4% sequence identities), they are found distantly from each other on the phylogenetic tree. Likewise, H199 G9P[4] showed high nucleotide sequence identities with Brazilian RJ12419 G12P[8], American 2008747323 G1P[8], and Belgian BE00045 G1P[8] viruses (94.1% to 94.7% sequence identities), however they did not display a significant evolutionary relationship.

A095 G9P[4] exhibited maximum similarity with Australian RCH041 G2P[4] (99.8%) virus and fell on the same branch as Japanese MI1132 G2P[4] (99.6%). H017 G9P[4] specimen shared ancestry with Bangladesh J331 G2P[4], Indian Kol-040, and American LB1562 G9P[4] viruses (99.1%, 99.2%, 99.3% sequence identities) and clustered near other Bangladesh, American and Malawian samples.

<u>NSP4</u>

The NSP4 gene (Figure 8f) of NG184 G9P[8] and H199 G9P[4], clustered in the same clade of the same sublineage in E1 (95.6% sequence identity), whereas A095 and H017 G9P[4]clustered in two different sublineages of E2 (91.6% sequence identity). NG184 G9P[8] specimen was most closely related to Ethiopian MRC-DPRU842 G9P[8] (99.5%) and fell on the same branch as Belgian BE0003 G9P[8] virus (99.0%). H199 G9P[4] similarly clustered near these specimens, in

addition to Belgian BE00094, Italian AV21 and ASTI23 G9P[8] and Croatian CR2006 G8P[8] (98.6% to 99.3% sequence identities).

A095 G9P[4] shared ancestry with RVA/Human-wt/MWI/BID14Z/2012/G2P4 (99.0%), as well as Australian RCH041and Japanese MI1132 G2P[4] specimens (99.0% to 98.9%). H017 G9P[4] was most closely related to Spanish SS96217158 G3P[8], Australian CK20028/27 G2P[4] viruses (98.7% to 99.2%). These Lebanese specimens also clustered near Pakistan, Bangladesh and Malawian samples.

<u>NSP5</u>

In the phylogenetic tree of the NSP5 gene (Figure 8g), NG184 G9P[8] and H199 G9P[4] clustered in the two different sublineages of H1 (95% sequence identity). This was similar to the different sublineages of A095 and H017 G9P[4] specimens in the H2 genotype (98.6% sequence identity). NG184 G9P[8] was identical to Ethiopian MRC-DPRU842 G9P[8] virus and shared ancestry with samples from Zimbabwe MRC-DPRU1841 G9P[8], Italy ME659 G12P[8], Hungary ERN5040 G1P[8] and South Africa MRC-DPRU4090 G12P[6] (97.8% to 98.3% sequence identities). Furthermore, NG184 clustered near global strains from Korea, Brazil, USA among others. H199 G9P[4] specimen was most closely related to Italian AV28 G9P[8] (98%) and American strains 2008747323 G1P[8] and VU12-13-162 G1P[8] (97.3%). This sample also clustered near Croatian, Australian, Canadian and Hungarian strains.

A095 G9P[4] was identical to Australian RCH041 G2P[4] specimen and they were most closely related to Japanese MI1132 G2P[4] and Malawian BID14Z G2P[4] strains (98.6% to 98.8% sequence identities). H017 G9P[4] was identical to Australian CK20027/28 strains and shared ancestry with another Australian 336190 G2P[4] virus (99.1%). A095 and H017 G9P[4] shared

41

ancestry with similar strains, such as Malawian MAL39 G12P[6], USA CNMC123 G2P[4], Spanish SS96217158 G3P[8], Pakistani PAK93 G1P[6] and some Bangladesh viruses.

<u>VP1</u>

VP1 gene (Figure 8h) of H199 G9P[4] and NG184 G9P[8] specimens were closely related (98.5%) belonging to the same sublineage R1.3. These were located further away from H017 G9P[4] and A095 G9P[4] which belonged to two distinct sublineages in the R2 genotype (94.5% sequence identity). H199 and NG184 shared ancestry with Ethiopian MRC-DPRU842 G9P[4] (98.5% to 98.8% sequence identities) and clustered near globally circulating viruses such as Italian ME864 G12P[8], Belgian BE00003 G9P[8], Senegal MRC-DPRU2051 G9P[8] (97.7% to 97.9%). H017 G9P[4] was most closely related to American LB1562 G9P[4] and Indian Kol-040 G9P[4] strains, as well as Bangladesh J331 G2P[4] viruses (99.3% to 99.6% sequence identities). A095 G9P[4] shared ancestry with Australian RCH041 and Japanese MI1132 G2P[4] viruses (99.1% to 99.7%). Furthermore, A095 clustered near Malawian, Uganda and Paraguayan samples.

<u>VP2</u>

In the phylogenetic tree of VP2 (Figure 8i), H199 G9P[4] and NG184 G9P[8] viruses fell in the same C1.2 sublineage (97.9%). These specimens shared 77.4% to 78.4% sequence identity with H017 and A095 G9P[4] samples. H017 and A095 G9P[4] belonged to C.2.3 sublineage and shared 98.3% sequence identity. NG184 G9P[8] and H199 G9P[4] were most closely related to Ethiopian MRC-DPRU842 G9P[8] virus (96.9% to 97.1%). Furthermore, these clustered near Victorian CK00015 G1P[8] and Italian AV28 G9P[8] strains (96.6% to 97.1%). Other specimens in the same lineage originated from USA, Croatia, Hungary and some South Africa. H017 G9P[4] specimen was most closely related to Pakistan PAK93 G1P[6] sample (99.3%), and

shared a common ancestor with American CNMC123 G2P[4] strain (99% sequence identity).

42

A095 G9P[4] was most closely related to Australian RCHO41 G2P[4] virus (99.8%) and clustered near Malawian BID14Z and Japanese MI1132 G2P[4] samples (98.1% to 99.3% sequence identities). H017 and A095 also clustered near viruses from Bangladesh, Uganda, Paraguay and Spain.

<u>VP3</u>

The VP3 gene (Figure 8j) of H199 G9P[4] and NG184 G9P[8] specimens located in separate clusters of the same sublineage M1.2 (95% sequence identity). H017 and A095 G9P[4] specimens belonged to M2.1 and M2.3 sublineages (78.8% sequence identity), respectively. H199 G9P[4] virus shared ancestry with RVA/Human-wt/SEN/MRC-DPRU2051/2009/G9P8, Belgian BE0003 G9P[8] and Croatian CR2006 G8P[8] (94.6% to 96% sequence identities). NG184 G9P[8] was most closely related to Ethiopian MRC-DPRU842 G9P[8] specimen (98.2%) and clustered near Italian ME864 G12P[8] and ASTI23 G9P[8], Belgian BE00094 G1P[8] and Canadian RT053-09 G9P[8] (96.6% to 96.7% sequence identities).

H017 G9P[4] on the phylogenetic tree seemed to be identical to Australian CK20028/20027 G2P[4] strains (99.2% sequence identity) and shared a common ancestor with Pakistani PAK93 G1P[6] and American CNMC123 G2P[4] specimens (97.6% to 99.6%). These viruses also clustered near some Bangladesh, Indian and other American viruses. A095 G9P[4] shared ancestry with Australian RCH041 G2P[4] and Japanese MI1132 G2P[4] viruses (99.3% to 99.6%). Furthermore, they clustered near globally circulating strains from Bangladesh, Uganda, Malawian, Spain and Paraguay.

<u>VP6</u>

The VP6 gene (Figure 8k) of NG184 G9P[8] and H199 G9P[4] viruses clustered in different sublineages (87.9%) in the I1 genotype. H199 and A095 G9P[4] were located in two I2.2 and I2.3

sublineages (97.2%). NG184 G9P[8] specimen shared highest similarity with Ethiopian MRC-DPRU842 G9P[8] virus (98.3%) and clustered near USA 2008747323 and Thailand SKT-98 G1P[8] specimens (98.0% to 98.1% sequence identities), as well as other samples from Belgian, Italy and Croatia. Although H199 G9P[4] shared 87.8% sequence identity with American 2008747323 G1P[8] and Ethiopian MRC-DPRU842 G9P[8] samples, as well as 87.7% with Thailand SKT-98 G1P[8] and 87.6% with Italian AV28 G9P[8] specimens, they did not display a significant evolutionary relationship.

H017 G9P[4] shared ancestry with Thailand SKT-457 G8P[8], Australian CK20028/CK20027 G2P[4], Belgian J331G2P[4] and Russian O1117 G2P[4] viruses (87.7% to 99.4% sequence identities) and clustered near Indian Kol-40 and American LB1562 G9P[4] viruses. A095 G9P[4] was most similar to Australian RCH041 (99.8% sequence identity) and shared a common ancestor with Malawian BID14Z and Japanese MI1132 G2P[4] viruses (98.8% to 99.1%). Furthermore,

these specimens clustered near Paraguayan, Spanish, Bangladesh, South African, Uganda and Australian viruses







Figure 8 (continued)



Figure 8 (continued)



Figure 8 (continued)

D. Phylogenetic analysis summary

The phylogenetic tree analysis was summarized to provide an eagle eye view of the different genomic constellations and relationships identified among the various strains (Figure 9). The strains can be divided into 3 groups: DS-1 like origin, Wa-like origin and mixed genotypes. Interestingly, aside from the Lebanese A095 strain which had a pure DS-1 like genotype, all globally circulating and representative G9P[4] specimens had a mixed genotype with a largely DS-1 like backbone similar to G2P[4] strains. A095 had identical genomic constellation with Japanese MI1132 G2P[4] strains suggesting a common ancestry of these strains. H199 was the sole G9P[4] with a mainly Wa-like backbone and was more similar to G9P[8] than G9P[4] strains. Nearly all the reported G9P[8] strains including NG184 possessed a pure Wa-like constellation, although intragenotypic reassortment events were evident. NG184 had identical genomic constellation in 9 segments with the Ethiopian MRC-DPRU842 strain, providing clues to the potential origin of these strains. Only one G9P[8] strain from Uruguay (MSK-13-084) possessed a pure DS-1 like constellation that resembled G2P[4] strains, suggesting a reassortment event between these two genotypes.

Strain	VP7	VP4	NSP1	NSP3	NSP4	NSP5	NSP2	VP1	VP2	VP3	VP6	
BVA /Human /I FB / 4095 / 2011 / G9P[4]												
P////Human.ut/IPN//MI1122/2016/G2P[/]												
NVA/Human-wt/JFN/WIII32/2010/02F[4]												
RVA/Hullian-wt/WWW/BID142/2012/G2P[4]	^											
RVA/Human/A05/RCH041/2010/G2P[4]												Pure DS-1 like
RVA/Human-wt/UGA/WISK-13-048/2013/G9P[8]												
RVA/Human-wt/AUS/336190/2004/G2P[4]	-											
RVA/Human-wt/AUS/CK20028/2006/G2P[4]	x											
RVA/Human-wt/ESP/SS96217158/2015/G3P[8]												
RVA/Human/LEB/H017/2011/G9P[4]												
RVA/Human-wt/IND/Kol-040/2012/G9P[4]												
RVA/Human-wt/USA/LB1562/2010/G9P[4]												
RVA/Human-wt/BGD/Bang-068/2008/G9P[4]												
RVA/Human-wt/PRY/1157A/2007/G9P[4]												
RVA/Human-wt/JPN/S120088/2012/G9P[4]												Mixed genotype
RVA/Human-wt/USA/CNMC123/2011/G2P[4]												
RVA/Human-wt/BGD/RV176/2000/G12P[6]												
RVA/Human-wt/BGN/J331/2010/G2P[4]	x											
RVA/Human-wt/MWI/MAL39/2007/G12P[6]												
RVA/Human/LEB/H199/2011/G9P[4]												
RVA/Human/LEB/NG184/2011/G9P[8]												
RVA/Human-wt/FTH/MRC-DPRU842/2012/G9P[8]												
RVA/Human-wt/ITA/ASTI23/2007/G0P[8]	v											
PV/A /Human wt/SEN/MPC DDD1/2051 (2)	^											
RVA/Human ut/USA///U12 12 162/2012/C10[9]	~											
RVA/Human-wt/USA/V012-13-102/2013/GIP[8]	X											
RVA/Human-wt/HON/ERN5016/2012/G9P[8]												
RVA/Hu-wt/IIA/ME864/12/2012/G12P[8]	-											
RVA/Human-wt/Croatia/CR2006/2006/G8P[8]	x											
RVA/Human-wt/AUS/CK00084/2008/G1P[8]	-											
RVA/Human-wt/USA/2008747323/2008/G1P[8]												
RVA/Human-wt/UGA/NSA-13-043/2013/G9P[8]												
RVA/Human-wt/BEL/BE00003/2004/G9P[8]												
RVA/Human-wt/ITA/AV21/2010/G9P8]												
RVA/Human-wt/ITA/JES11/2010/G9P[8]												
RVA/Human-wt/ZAF/MRC-DPRU2711/2008/G9P[8]												Buro Wa liko
RVA/Human-wt/ZWE/MRC-DPRU1841/2009/G9P[8]												Fule Wa-like
RVA/Human-wt/HUN/ERN5040/2012/G1P[8]												
RVA/Human-wt/USA/VU12-13-203/2013/G12P[8]												
RVA/Human-wt/ZAF/MRC-DPRU4090/2011/G12P[6]												
RVA/Human-wt/AUS/CK20043/2010/G1P[8]	х											
RVA/Human-wt/BEL/BE00035/2008/G1P[8]												
RVA/Human-wt/ZAF/MRC-DPRU1370/2004/G12P[6]												
RVA/Human-wt/CMR/MRC-DPRI 11417/2009/G9P[8]												
RVA/Human-wt/USA2008747307/2008/G9P[8]												
RVA/Human/Bethesda/DC3/2009/G9P[8]		×										
RVA /Human /KOR /Secul0373 /2008 /G9P[8]	v	v										
PVA/Human vt/7WE/MBC DBBU1102/2012/C0D[8]	^	^										
RVA/Human ut/USA//UI12 12 101/2012/C0D[0]												
RVA/Human-wt/USA/V012-13-101/2013/G9P[8]												
RVA/Human-wt/JPN/0R14-16/2014/G9P[8]		X										
RVA/Human-wt/JPN/CH1023/2016/G9P[8]		_										
RVA/PIg-wt/THA/CMP-015-12/2012/G9P[19]												
RVA/Pig-wt/IIA//RE/2009/G9P[23]		-										
RVA/Pig-wt/JPN/BU9/2014/G9P[23]												
RVA/Pig/China/NMTL/2008/G9P[23]		_										
RVA/Pig-wt/BEL/14R166/2014/G9P[7]												
RVA/Pig-wt/ITA/2CR/2009/G9P[23]						,	x					Porcine origin
RVA/Pig-wt/ITA/3BS/2009/G9P[23]							•					i orenie origin
RVA/Pig-wt/TWN/2-1/2015/G9P[19]												
RVA/Pig-wt/TWN/3-18/2015/G9P[13]												
RVA/Pig-wt/TWN/2-3/2015/G9P[13]												
RVA/Pig-wt/TWN/103-P-004-1-0817/2014/G9P[13]												
RVA/Pig-wt/TWN/103-P-003-1-1146/2014/G9P[19]												

Figure 9: Summary of the phylogenetic trees. VP7 refers to the G9 lineage only. The Lebanese specimens are shaded in gray. The Lebanese specimens are shaded in gray. Different shades of blue indicate RVA strains of Wa-like origin. Different shades of orange indicate RVA strains of DS-1 like origin. X indicates strains not available in the phylogenetic tree of the particular genotype

E. Amino acid sequence identity between Lebanese rotavirus A strains and vaccine viruses

To understand the genetic relatedness between Lebanese strains and Rotarix and RotaTeq vaccines, a similarity matrix based on the amino acid constitution of the VP7 and VP4 genes was inferred (Figure 10). The G9 VP7 of 3/4 Lebanese specimens shared highest amino acid sequence identity with G3 VP7 of RotaTeq (80.1% to 83.3%) whereas the NG184 virus shared 81.2% sequence identity with G2 VP7 of RotaTeq. As for the VP4 genotype, the highest amino acid sequence identity in the G9P[4] Lebanese specimens was shared with the P[8] VP4 of RotaTeq (90.4% to 90.5%). VP4 of NG184 G9P[8] had high sequence P[8] VP4 of both Rotarix and Rotateq. We next compared the antigenic epitopes of the VP4 and VP7 in order to gain more indepth understanding of the genetic vaccine-matching of the Lebanese G9P[4] and G9P[8] specimens.

Strain	Rotarix G1	Rotateq G1	Rotateq G2	Rotateq G3	Rotateq G4	Rotarix P[8]	Rotateq P[8]
RVA/Human/LEB/A095/2011/G9P[4]	77.00%	77.10%	79.10%	80.10%	73.80%	89.00%	90.40%
RVA/Human/LEB/H017/2011/G9P[4]	79.10%	78.00%	76.10%	83.30%	76.50%	89.30%	90.40%
RVA/Human/LEB/H199/2011/G9P[4]	79.10%	78.00%	76.10%	83.30%	76.20%	89.10%	90.50%
RVA/Human/LEB/NG184/2011/G9P[8]	78.50%	77.40%	81.20%	80.40%	75.00%	92.20%	91.90%

Figure 10: Distance matrix for VP7 and VP4 based on amino acid identities between RotaTeq and Rotarix vaccines and Lebanese specimens. Green shaded area indicates highest amino acid sequence identity of the VP7 genotype. Red shaded area indicates highest amino acid sequence identity of the VP4 genotype

F. VP7 antigenic epitopes of the Lebanese RVA strains and vaccine viruses

Epitope 7-1a

Analysis of the VP7 antigenic epitopes revealed that the Lebanese G9 specimens possessed a similar composition of the 7-1a epitope, except for the S87T substitution of A095 (Figure 11).

Compared to the G1 components of the RotaTeq and the Rotarix vaccines, the Lebanese samples had 5-6 amino acid substitutions at positions 87,94, 96,123,125,129 of 7-1a antigenic epitope that are different from both vaccines. An additional amino acid substitution at residue 97 was identified in our specimens compared to G1 VP7 of RotaTeq.

Compared to the G2 strain of RotaTeq, our specimens differed at positions 87,91,94,96 99, 100,125,129 and 130 of VP7.

Compared to G3 VP7 of RotaTeq, one can observe that all Lebanese specimens had shared substitutions at residues 94, 96, 97, and 129. A095 G9P[4] possessed an additional unique substitution at residue 87.

Finally, comparing the G4 specimen of RotaTeq, the Lebanese strains possessed four substitutions at residues 87, 94, 123, and 125, except for A095 which lacked the change at residue 87.

Epitope 7-1b

In contrast to the 7-1a epitope, this epitope showed more similarities in the amino acid constitution between A095, H017 and H199 viruses, whereas the NG184 virus had more distinctive amino acid residues. Nevertheless, there was a conserved N242T substitution in all Lebanese samples.

Compared to the G1 of RotaTeq and Rotarix vaccine strains, A095, H017 and H199 viruses possessed similar substitutions at residues 212 and 213. While NG184 possessed an amino acid change at residue 211.

Compared to the G2 VP7 of RotaTeq, the G9P[4] strains had only one (1/6) residue in epitope 7-1b that was similar to the vaccine strain. While NG184 G9P[8] had changes in 3/6 residues.

Compared to G3 VP7 of RotaTeq, the majority (4-5/6) of 7-1b residues were found to be mutated in the Lebanese strains.

Compared to the G4 VP7 of RotaTeq, the A095, H017 and H199 G9P[4] strains had 2 and 3 substitutions in this epitope, one being common among all strains (N242 T)

Epitope 7-2

Compared to the G1 strains of RotaTeq and Rotarix vaccines, only positions 145 and 264 were conserved. All Lebanese viruses differed at positions 146, 147, 217 and 221 from both vaccines. Additionally, NG184 possessed substitutions at positions 143, 148 and 190.

Compared to the G2 VP7 of RotaTeq, A095, H017 and H199 differed at positions 143, 146, 148,190 and 217. Interestingly, NG184 virus had an identical 7-2 epitope to G2 of RotaTeq.

Compared to the G3 strain of RotaTeq, the Lebanese specimens shared a common substitution at residue 221. Additionally, the G9P[4] specimens possessed a change at residue 146. NG184 had substitutions at positions 143, 146, 148, 190 and 217.

Compared to G4 of RotaTeq, the Lebanese specimens shared two common substitutions at residues 145 and 147. A095, H017 and H199 had additional mutations at residues 143, 148, and 217; whereas NG184 possessed mutations at residues 146,148,190 and 217.

In conclusion, the Lebanese G9P4] specimens were more similar antigenically to G4 VP7 of

							E	pitop	e 7-1:	a						I	Epitop	æ 7-1	b					Ер	itope	7-2			
	87	91	94	96	97	98	99	100	104	123	125	129	130	291	201	211	212	213	238	242	143	145	146	147	148	190	217	221	264
G1 A41CB052A/1988/G1P1A[8]/RotaRix	Т	Т	Ν	G	Е	W	K	D	Q	S	V	V	D	K	Q	Ν	V	D	Ν	Т	K	D	Q	Ν	L	S	Μ	Ν	G
G1 WI79-9/1992/G1P7[5]/RotaTeq	Т	Т	Ν	G	D	W	K	D	Q	S	V	V	D	K	Q	Ν	V	D	Ν	Т	K	D	Q	S	L	S	Μ	Ν	G
A095 G9P[4]	S	Т	G	Т	Е	W	Κ	D	Q	D	Α	Ι	D	Κ	Q	Ν	Т	Α	D	Ν	Κ	D	S	Т	L	S	Е	S	G
H017 G9P[4]	Т	Т	G	Т	Е	W	Κ	D	Q	D	Α	Ι	D	Κ	Q	Ν	Т	Α	D	Ν	Κ	D	S	Т	L	S	Е	S	G
H199 G9P[4]	Т	Т	G	Т	Е	W	K	D	Q	D	Α	Ι	D	Κ	Q	Ν	Т	Α	D	Ν	K	D	S	Т	L	S	Е	S	G
NG184 G9P[8]	Т	Т	G	Т	Е	W	Κ	D	Q	D	Α	Ι	D	Κ	Q	D	V	D	D	Ν	R	D	Ν	Т	S	D	Ι	S	G
G2 SC2-9/P[5]/1981/RotaTeq	Α	Ν	S	D	E	W	E	Ν	Q	D	Т	Μ	Ν	K	Q	D	V	S	Ν	S	R	D	Ν	Т	S	D	Ι	S	G
A095 G9P[4]	S	Т	G	Т	Е	W	Κ	D	Q	D	Α	Ι	D	Κ	Q	Ν	Т	Α	D	Ν	Κ	D	S	Т	L	S	Е	S	G
H017 G9P[4]	Т	Т	G	Т	Е	W	Κ	D	Q	D	А	Ι	D	Κ	Q	Ν	Т	Α	D	Ν	K	D	S	Т	L	S	Е	S	G
H199 G9P[4]	Т	Т	G	Т	Е	W	Κ	D	Q	D	А	Ι	D	Κ	Q	Ν	Т	Α	D	Ν	Κ	D	S	Т	L	S	Е	S	G
NG184 G9P[8]	Т	Т	G	Т	Е	W	Κ	D	Q	D	Α	Ι	D	Κ	Q	D	V	D	D	Ν	R	D	Ν	Т	S	D	Ι	S	G
G3 WI78-8/1992/G3P7[5]/RotaTeq	Т	Т	Ν	Ν	S	W	K	D	Q	D	Α	V	D	K	Q	D	Α	Ν	K	D	K	D	Α	Т	L	S	E	Α	G
A095 G9P[4]	S	Т	G	Т	Е	W	Κ	D	Q	D	Α	Ι	D	Κ	Q	Ν	Т	Α	D	Ν	Κ	D	S	Т	L	S	Е	S	G
H017 G9P[4]	Т	Т	G	Т	Е	W	K	D	Q	D	Α	Ι	D	Κ	Q	Ν	Т	Α	D	Ν	Κ	D	S	Т	L	S	Е	S	G
H199 G9P[4]	Т	Т	G	Т	Е	W	Κ	D	Q	D	Α	Ι	D	Κ	Q	Ν	Т	Α	D	Ν	Κ	D	S	Т	L	S	Е	S	G
NG184 G9P[8]	Т	Т	G	Т	Е	W	K	D	Q	D	Α	Ι	D	Κ	Q	D	V	D	D	Ν	R	D	Ν	Т	S	D	Ι	S	G
G4 BrB/P[5]/1984/RotaTeq	S	Т	S	Т	Е	W	K	D	Q	Ν	L	Ι	D	K	Q	D	Т	Α	D	Т	R	Α	S	G	E	S	Т	S	G
A095 G9P[4]	S	Т	G	Т	Е	W	K	D	Q	D	А	Ι	D	Κ	Q	Ν	Т	Α	D	Ν	K	D	S	Т	L	S	Е	S	G
H017 G9P[4]	Т	Т	G	Т	Е	W	Κ	D	Q	D	А	Ι	D	Κ	Q	Ν	Т	Α	D	Ν	K	D	S	Т	L	S	Е	S	G
H199 G9P[4]	Т	Т	G	Т	Е	W	Κ	D	Q	D	А	Ι	D	Κ	Q	Ν	Т	Α	D	Ν	K	D	S	Т	L	S	Е	S	G
NG184 G9P[8]	Т	Т	G	Т	Е	W	Κ	D	Q	D	Α	Ι	D	Κ	Q	D	V	D	D	Ν	R	D	Ν	Т	S	D	Ι	S	G

RotaTeq vaccine, given the least number of mutations observed compared to this strain.

Figure 11: Alignment of antigenic residues in VP7 between the strains contained in Rotarix and RotaTeq and Lebanese specimen. Antigenic residues are divided into three epitopes (7-1a, 7-1b, and 7-2). Red font color indicates amino acids of Rotarix strains. Blue font color indicates amino acids of RotaTeq strains. Yellow shaded residues are residues that differ between Rotarix and RotaTeq strain. Red residues are amino acids that differ between the Lebanese specimens and both Rotarix and RotaTeq. Blue shaded residues are amino acids that differ between the Lebanese specimens and RotaTeq.

G. VP4 antigenic epitopes of circulating Lebanese RVA strains and vaccine viruses

<u>VP8*</u>

Analysis of the VP8* epitope residues of all G9P[4] Lebanese specimens revealed that they have identical amino acid constitutions, which differed from the G9P[8] Lebanese specimens (Figure 12A).

In the 8-1 epitope, Lebanese specimens possessed a similar composition at positions 100,150,190,193 and 194. Compared to the P[8] RotaTeq and Rotarix vaccines, all Lebanese viruses had S150N and D193N changes. Interestingly, NG184 G9P[8] varied in all positions except 100 and 194 from both vaccines. Furthermore, A095, H017 and H199 G9P[4] differed from P[8] of RotaTeq at position 196 and from P[8] of Rotarix at position 190.

In the 8-2 epitope, only NG184 G9P[8] had a G183N substitution that was different from both vaccines.

In the 8-3 epitope, all Lebanese samples and vaccine strains had a conserved residue at position 132. Additionally, A095, H017 and H199 G9P[4] were different from both vaccines at positions 113 – 116, 131 and 133. Moreover, these 3 samples differed from P[8] of Rotarix at residues 125 and 135. NG184 G9P[8] differed from both vaccines at position 113, from RotaTeq virus at positions 125 and 135 and from Rotarix at position 135.

In the 8-4 epitope, only G9P[4] specimens possessed a change in residue 89.

<u>VP5*</u>

Analysis of the VP5* epitope residues, showed that all 4 Lebanese specimens differed only at positions 388, 393 and 306 (Figure 12B).

In the 5-1 epitope, all specimens were different from RotaTeq at position 384 and from both vaccines at position 386. A095, H017 and H199 G9P[4] samples experienced mutations at positions 388 and 393 that were different from the mutation in NG184 (S388T).

In the epitope 5-5, only A095, H017 and H199 G9P[4] samples possessed a mutation in residue 306.

In conclusion, we can conclude that the Lebanese P[4] specimens were antigenically more similar to VP4 P[8] of RotaTeq since they experienced less mutations compared to Rotarix, whereas the P[8] Lebanese specimen was more similar to VP4 P[8] of Rotarix.

							8-1							8-2	2						8-3						8-4	
• >		100	146	148	150	188	190	192	193	194	195	196	1	80	183		113	114	115	116	125	131	132	133	135	87	88	89
A)	P[8] A41CB052A/G1/1988/Rotarix	D	S	S	Ν	S	S	A	N	L	N	N	E]	R		N	P	V	D	S	S	Ν	D	N	Ν	Т	Ν
	P[8] W179-4/G1/1983/RotaTeq	D	S	S	Ν	S	N	Α	Ν	L	N	D	E	C]	R	-	Ν	P	V	D	N	R	N	D	D	Ν	Т	Ν
	A095 G9P[4]	D	S	S	S	S	N	А	D	L	N	N	E	1	R		S	Q	Т	N	Ν	E	Ν	S	D	Ν	Т	D
	H017 G9P[4]	D	S	S	S	S	N	А	D	L	N	N	E	1	R		S	Q	Т	N	Ν	E	Ν	S	D	Ν	Т	D
	H199 G9P[4]	D	S	S	S	S	N	А	D	L	N	N	E	1	R		S	Q	Т	N	Ν	E	Ν	S	D	Ν	Т	D
	NG184 G9P[8]	D	N	Ι	S	G	Ν	S	D	L	Ι	S	E	2 (G		D	Р	V	D	S	R	Ν	D	N	Ν	Т	Ν
												F 1					-					- 4						
												5-1					5	-2	3	-3	-	5-4		>-5				
	B)							384	386	388	393	3 394	398	44(0 441	L	43	34	4	59	4	29	3	06				
	P[8] A4	1CB)52A	/G1/	1988	/Rot	arix	S	Y	S	Α	W	Ν	L	R		E		Ν		S		L					
	P[8] W	179-4	/G1/1	1983/	Rot	aTeq	1	R	Η	S	Α	W	Ν	L	R		E		Ν		S		L					
	A095 (59P[4	1					S	D	R	E	W	N	L	R		Е		Ν		S		S					
	H017 (59P[4	1					S	D	R	Е	W	N	L	R		Е		N		S		S					
	H199 (1					S	D	R	Е	W	N	L	R	1	Е		N		S		S					
	NG184	G9P	[8]					S	D	Т	Α	W	N	L	R	1	E		N		S		L	,				

Figure 12: Alignment of antigenic residues in VP4 between the strains contained in Rotarix and RotaTeq and Lebanese specimens. In panel A the antigenic residues are divided in three antigenic epitopes in VP8*. In panel B antigenic residues are divided in five antigenic epitopes in VP5*. Red font color indicates amino acids of Rotarix strain. Blue font color indicates amino acids of RotaTeq strains. Yellow shaded residues are amino acids that differ between Rotarix and RotaTeq strains. Purple shaded residues are amino acids that differ between sample strains and both Rotarix and RotaTeq strains. Blue shaded residues are amino acids that differ between sample strains and RotaTeq strains.

H. Comparison of the antigenic epitopes among the globally circulating G9P[8] and G9P[4] rotaviruses

In order to understand the significance of the mutations in the epitopic residues of the Lebanese specimens, we compared their antigenic epitopes with representative G9P[8] and G9P[4] strains. A consensus sequence was constructed based on the most representative amino acid residue at each position. Overall, the VP7 epitopes were largely conserved among G9P[4] and G9[8] strains (Figure 13). Most of the study viruses contain one or less mutations in these epitopes. Surprisingly, in the Lebanese NG184 G9P[8] strain, numerous mutations compared to the rest of the G9 strains were observed. In case of the VP4 antigenic epitopes, as expected, a significant number of substitutions were observed among the G9P[4] compared to the G9P[8] (Figure 14). Yes, the majority of the VP4 antigenic residues were conserved among viruses of the same genotype. The conservation of the antigenic epitopes of the VP7 gene of G9 strains provide an opportunity for the development of a vaccine strain that can target these emerging strains.

						E	pitop	e 7-1:	a]	Epitoj	pe 7-1	b					Ep	itope	e 7-2			
	87	91 9	4 9	6 97	98	3 99	100	104	123	125	129	130	291	201	211	212	213	238 2	42	143	145	146	147	148	3 190	217	221	264
Consensus	Т	T (3 1	E	W	K	D	Q	D	Α	Ι	D	К	Q	N	Т	Α	D	1	K	D	S	Т	L	S	Е	S	G
RVA/Human-wt/IND/Kol-006/2011/G9P[4]	Т	Τ	ι	E	W	K	D	Q	D	Α	Ι	D	Κ	Q	Ν	Т	А	D 1	1	К	D	S	Т	L	S	Е	N	G
RVA/Human-wt/BGD/Bang-068/2008/G9P[4]	Т	T (ЗI	E	W	K	D	Q	D	Α	Ι	D	Κ	Q	Ν	Т	А	D S		Κ	D	S	Т	L	S	Е	S	G
RVA/Human-wt/IND/Kol-040/2012/G9P[4]	Т	T (βI	E	W	K	D	Q	D	Α	Ι	D	Κ	Q	Ν	Т	А	D 1	1	K	D	S	Т	L	S	Е	S	G
RVA/Human-wt/PRY/1157A/2007/G9P[4]	Т	Τ	ЗI	E	W	K	D	Q	D	А	Ι	D	Κ	Q	N	Т	А	D 1	1	Κ	D	S	Т	L	S	Е	S	G
RVA/Human-wt/USA/LB1562/2010/G9P[4]	Т	T (3 1	Е	W	K	D	Q	D	Α	Ι	D	Κ	Q	Ν	Т	Α	D 1	1	Κ	D	S	Т	L	S	Е	S	G
RVA/Human/LEB/A095/2011/G9P[4]	S	Τ	ЗI	E	W	K	D	Q	D	А	Ι	D	Κ	Q	N	Т	А	D 1	1	Κ	D	S	Т	L	S	Е	S	G
RVA/Human/LEB/H017/2011/G9P[4]	Т	T (3 1	Е	W	K	D	Q	D	Α	Ι	D	Κ	Q	Ν	Т	Α	D 1	1	Κ	D	S	Т	L	S	Е	S	G
RVA/Human/LEB/H199/2011/G9P[4]	Т	Τ	ЗI	E	W	K	D	Q	D	Α	Ι	D	Κ	Q	N	Т	А	D 1	1	Κ	D	S	Т	L	S	Е	S	G
RVA/Human/LEB/NG184/2011/G9P[8]	Т	Τ	ЗI	Е	W	K	D	Q	D	Α	Ι	D	Κ	Q	D	V	D	D I	1	R	D	N	Т	S	D	I	S	G
RVA/Human-wt/CHN/km15007/2015/G9P[8]	Т	Τ	3 <mark>/</mark>	E	W	K	D	Q	D	Α	Ι	D	Κ	Q	N	Т	А	D 1	1	Κ	D	S	Т	L	S	Е	S	G
RVA/Human-wt/TGO/MRC-DPRU5123/2010/G9P[8]	Т	T (3 1	Е	W	K	D	Q	D	Α	Ι	D	Κ	Q	Ν	Т	Α	D 1	1	Κ	D	S	Т	L	S	Е	G	G
RVA/Human-wt/ITA/JES11/2010/G9P[8]	Т	Τ	ЗI	E	W	K	N	Q	D	Α	Ι	D	Κ	Q	N	Т	А	D 1	1	Κ	D	S	Т	L	S	Е	S	G
RVA/Human-wt/USA/VU12-13-101/2013/G9P[8]	Т	T (βI	E	W	K	N	Q	D	Α	Ι	D	Κ	Q	Ν	Т	А	D 1	1	K	D	S	Т	L	S	Е	S	G
RVA/Human-wt/USA2008747307/2008/G9P[8]	Т	T (ЗI	E	W	K	N	Q	D	Α	Ι	D	Κ	Q	Ν	Т	А	D 1	1	Κ	D	S	Т	L	S	Е	S	G
RVA/Human-wt/JPN/UR14-16/2014/G9P[8]	Т	T (βI	E	W	K	N	Q	D	Α	Ι	D	Κ	Q	Ν	Т	А	D 1	1	K	D	S	Т	L	S	Е	S	G
RVA/Human-wt/ZWE/MRC-DPRU1102/2012/G9P[8]	Т	Τ	ЗI	E	W	K	N	Q	D	Α	Ι	D	Κ	Q	Ν	Т	А	D 1	1	Κ	D	S	Т	L	S	Е	S	G
RVA/Human-wt/ZWE/MRC-DPRU1841/2009/G9P[8]	Т	T (βI	E	W	K	D	Q	D	Α	Ι	D	Κ	Q	Ν	Т	А	D S		K	D	S	Т	L	S	Е	S	G
RVA/Human-wt/BGD/Bang-062/2009/G9P[8]	Т	Τ	ЗI	E	W	K	D	Q	D	Α	Ι	D	Κ	Q	Ν	Т	А	D S		Κ	D	S	Т	L	S	Е	S	G
RVA/Human-wt/ZAF/MRC-DPRU2711/2008/G9P[8]	Т	T (βI	E	W	K	D	Q	D	Α	Ι	D	Κ	Q	Ν	Т	А	D S		K	D	S	Т	L	S	Е	S	G
RVA/Human-wt/BEL/B3458/2003/G9P[8]	Т	Τ	ЗI	E	W	K	D	Q	D	Α	Ι	D	Κ	Q	Ν	Т	Α	D 1	1	Κ	D	S	Т	L	S	Е	S	G
RVA/Human-wt/ETH/MRC-DPRU842/2012/G9P[8]	Т	T (βI	E	W	K	D	Q	D	Α	Ι	D	Κ	Q	Ν	Т	А	D 1	1	K	D	S	Т	L	S	Е	S	G
RVA/Human-wt/ITA/ASTI23/2007/G9P[8]	Т	T (Ξ	E	W	K	D	Q	D	А	Ι	D	Κ	Q	Ν	Т	А	D N	1	K	D	S	Т	L	S	Е	S	G
RVA/Human-wt/ITA/AV21/2010/G9P[8]	Т	Τ	ι	E	W	K	D	Q	D	Α	Ι	D	Κ	Q	Ν	Т	А	D 1	1	К	D	S	Т	L	S	Е	S	G
RVA/Human-wt/ITA/AV28/2010/G9P[8]	Т	T (Ξ	E	W	K	D	Q	D	Α	Ι	D	Κ	Q	Ν	Т	А	DN	1	K	D	S	Т	L	S	Е	S	G
RVA/Human/Bethesda/DC3/2009/G9P[8]	Т	Τ	ι	E	W	K	D	Q	D	Α	Ι	D	Κ	Q	Ν	Т	А	D 1	1	К	D	S	Т	L	S	Е	S	G
RVA/Human-wt/JPN/To14-30/2014/G9P[8]	Т	T (Ξ	E	W	K	D	Q	D	Α	Ι	D	Κ	Q	Ν	Т	А	D N	1	K	D	S	Т	L	S	Е	S	G
RVA/Human-wt/MOZ/21155/2011/G9P[8]	Т	Τ	ι	E	W	K	D	Q	D	Α	Ι	D	Κ	Q	Ν	Т	А	D 1	1	К	D	S	Т	L	S	Е	S	G
RVA/Human-wt/PRY/3SR/2002/G9P[8]	Т	T (Ξ	E	W	K	D	Q	D	Α	Ι	D	Κ	Q	Ν	Т	А	D N	1	K	D	S	Т	L	S	Е	S	G
RVA/Human-wt/SEN/MRC-DPRU2051/2009/G9P[8]	Т	Τ	βJ	E	W	K	D	Q	D	А	Ι	D	Κ	Q	N	Т	А	D N	1	К	D	S	Т	L	S	Е	S	G
RVA/Human-wt/UGA/MSK-13-048/2013/G9P[8]	Т	T (βJ	E	W	K	D	Q	D	А	Ι	D	Κ	Q	Ν	Т	А	D 1	1	К	D	S	Т	L	S	Е	S	G
RVA/Human-wt/UGA/MUL-13-163/2013/G9P[8]	Т	ΤC	J J	E	W	K	D	Q	D	А	Ι	D	Κ	Q	N	Т	А	D 1	1	К	D	S	Т	L	S	Е	S	G
RVA/Human-wt/USA/2009727093/2009/G9P[8]	Т	ΤC	βÎ	E	W	K	D	Q	D	A	Ι	D	Κ	Q	N	Т	А	D 1	1	K	D	S	Т	L	S	Е	S	G

Figure 13: Alignment of antigenic residues in VP7 between reference strains and Lebanese specimens. Antigenic residues are divided in three antigenic eptiopes (7-1a,7-1b,7-2). Consensus was constructed based on the most representative amino acid residues. Yellow shading indicates difference among available rotavirus strains and consensus

														VP8	0																					V	'P4*					
						8-1							8-2						8-3							8-4							5-1					5-2	5-3	5-	4	5-5
	100	146	148	3 150	18	8 190	192	193	194	195	96	18	0 183		113	114	115	116	125	131	132	133 13	35		87	88	89		384	386	388	393	39	4 398	8 44	40 441		434	459	42	.9	306
Consensus	D	s	s	S	s	N	Α	N	L	N (;	Е	R		D	Р	v	D	N	R I	N I	D D		N	1	r M	Ň	s		D	s	Α	w	N	L	R		E	N	s		L
RVA/Human-wt/IND/Kol-040/2012/G9P[4]	D	S	S	S	S	Ν	А	D	L	N N	Į.	Е	R		S	Р	Т	N	N	E I	N	S D		N	1	г <mark>I</mark>)	S		D	R	Е	W	Ν	L	R		E	N	s		S
RVA/Human-wt/JPN/S120088/2012/G9P[4]	D	S	S	S	S	Ν	А	D	L	N N	Į.	Е	R	1	S	Q	Т	N	N	E I	N	S D		N	1	г <mark>I</mark>)	S		D	R	Е	W	Ν	L	R		E	N	s		S
RVA/Human-wt/PRY/10SR/2002/G9P[4]	D	S	S	S	S	Ν	А	D	L	N N	Į.	Е	R		S	Q	Т	N	N	E I	N .	S D		N	1	г <mark>і</mark>)	S		D	R	Е	W	Ν	L	R		Е	N	S		S
RVA/Human-wt/PRY/1157A/2007/G9P[4]	D	S	S	S	S	Ν	S	D	L	N N	Į.	Е	R		S	Q	Т	N	N	E I	N	S D		N	1	г <mark>і</mark>)	S		D	R	Е	W	Ν	L	R		Е	N	S		S
RVA/Human-wt/USA/LB1562/2010/G9P4	D	S	S	S	S	Ν	А	D	L	N N	1	Е	R]	S	Q	Т	N	N	E I	N	S D		N	1	г)	S		D	R	Е	W	Ν	L	R		Е	N	s		S
RVA/Human/LEB/A095/2011/G9P4	D	s	S	S	s	Ν	А	D	L	N N	Į.	Е	R		S	Q	Т	N	N	E I	N S	S D		N	1	г <mark>і</mark>)	S		D	R	Е	w	Ν	L	R		Е	N	s		S
RVA/Human/LEB/H017/2011/G9P4	D	s	S	S	S	Ν	А	D	L	N N	I	Е	R		S	Q	Т	N	N	E I	N .	S D		N	1	г <mark>і</mark>)	S		D	R	Е	W	N	L	R		E	N	S		S
RVA/Human/LEB/H199/2011/G9P4	D	s	S	s	s	Ν	А	D	L	N N	Į –	Е	R		s	Q	Т	N	N	E I	N S	S D		N	1	г <mark>і</mark>)	S		D	R	Е	W	Ν	L	R		Е	N	S		S
RVA/Human/LEB/NG184/2011/G9P8	D	N	I	S	G	Ν	S	D	L	I S		Е	G		D	Р	v	D	S I	R I	N I	D N		N	1	r M	N.	S		D	Т	А	W	N	L	R		Е	N	s		L
RVA/Human-wt/ETH/MRC-DPRU842/2012/G9P[8]	D	N	Ν	S	G	Ν	s	D	L	I S		Е	G		D	Р	v	D	S	R	N I	D N		N	1	r N	N.	S		D	Т	А	W	N	L	R		Е	N	s		L
RVA/Human-wt/SEN/MRC-DPRU2051/2009/G9P[8]	D	Ν	S	S	G	Ν	S	D	L	I S		Е	G		D	Р	v	D	S	R I	N I	D N		N	1	r M	Ň	S		D	Т	А	W	Ν	L	R		E	N	s		L
RVA/Human-wt/TGO/MRC-DPRU5123/2010/G9P[8]	D	s	Ν	S	G	Ν	А	D	L	T S		Е	G		D	Р	v	D	S	R	N I	D N		N	1	r M	N.	S		D	Т	А	W	Ν	L	R		Е	N	S		L
RVA/Human-wt/ZAF/MRC-DPRU2711/2008/G9P[8]	D	S	S	S	G	Ν	А	D	L	T S		Е	G		D	Р	v	N	S	W I	N I	D N		N	1	r M	Ň	S		D	Т	А	W	N	L	R		E	N	S		L
RVA/Human-wt/BEL/B3458/2003/G9P[8]	D	S	S	N	S	Ν	А	Ν	L	N C	3	Е	R		D	Р	v	D	N	R I	N I	D D		N	1	r N	Ň	S		D	S	А	W	N	L	R		E	N	S		L
RVA/Human-wt/ITA/ASTI23/2007/G9P8	D	s	S	N	s	Ν	А	Ν	L	D (6	Е	R		N	Р	v	D	N	R	N I	D D		N	1	r M	N.	S		D	s	А	W	Ν	L	R		Е	N	S		L
RVA/Human-wt/ITA/AV21/2010/G9P8	D	s	S	N	S	Ν	А	Ν	L	N C	j -	Е	R	1	D	Р	v	D	N	R	N I	D D		N	1	r N	1	S		D	s	А	W	N	L	R		E	N	s		L
RVA/Human-wt/ITA/AV28/2010/G9P8	D	S	S	N	S	Ν	А	Ν	L	N C	3	Е	R	1	D	Р	v	D	N	R I	N I	D <mark>A</mark>		N	1	r M	Ň	S		D	S	А	W	N	L	R		E	N	s		L
RVA/Human-wt/ITA/JES11/2010/G9P8	D	S	S	N	S	S	А	Ν	L	N C	3	Е	R		N	Р	v	D	N	R I	N I	D D		N	1	r M	Ň	S		D	S	А	W	Ν	L	R		E	N	s		L
RVA/Human-wt/JPN/UR14-16/2014/G9P[8]	D	s	S	N	s	Ν	А	Ν	L	D (6	Е	R		N	Р	v	D	N	R	N I	D D		N	1	r M	N.	S		D	s	А	W	Ν	L	R		Е	N	s		L
RVA/Human-wt/USA/VU12-13-101/2013/G9P[8]	D	s	S	N	S	Ν	Т	Ν	L	N C	;	Е	R		D	Р	v	D	N	R I	N I	D D		N	1	r M	N.	S		D	s	А	W	N	L	R		Е	N	s		L
RVA/Human-wt/USA2008747307/2008/G9P[8]	D	S	S	N	S	Ν	S	Ν	L	N C	;	Е	R		D	Р	A	D	N	R I	N I	D D		N	1	r P	N.	S		D	S	А	W	Ν	L	R		Е	N	S		L
RVA/Human-wt/ZWE/MRC-DPRU1841/2009/G9P[8]	D	S	S	N	S	Ν	А	Ν	L	N C	j.	Е	R		N	Р	V	D	N	R I	N I	D D		N	1	ΓN	Ň	S		D	S	А	W	Ν	L	R		E	N	S		L
RVA/Human/Bethesda/DC3/2009/G9P[8]	D	s	S	N	S	Ν	А	N	L	N C	;	Е	R	1	D	Р	v	D	N	R	N I	D D		N	1	r M	N.	S		D	s	А	W	N	L	R		Е	N	S		L
RVA/Human-wt/ZWE/MRC-DPRU1102/2012/G9P[8]	D	s	S	S	S	Ν	А	Ν	L	N C	3	Е	R	1	D	Р	v	D	N	R	N I	D D		N	1	r N	N.	S		D	S	А	W	N	L	R		Е	N	s		L
RVA/Human-wt/JPN/To14-30/2014/G9P[8]	D	s	S	S	S	Ν	А	Ν	L	N C	3	Е	R	1	D	Р	v	D	N	R	N I	D D		N	1	r N	i.	S		D	S	А	W	N	L	R		E	N	S		L
RVA/Human-wt/CHN/km15007/2015/G9P[8]	D	s	s	S	S	Ν	А	Ν	L	N C	;]	Е	R		D	Р	v	D	N	R	N I	D D		N	1	r P	N I	S		D	s	А	W	N	L	R		Е	N	S		L

Figure 14: Alignment of antigenic residues in VP4 between reference strains and Lebanese specimens. Antigenic residues are divided in three antigenic epitopes in VP8*. Antigenic residues are divided in five antigenic epitopes in VP4*. Consensus was constructed based on the most representative amino acid residues. Yellow shading indicates difference among available rotavirus strains and consensus.

CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION

Rotavirus is considered the major cause of gastroenteritis in children under the age of 5 years and is associated with a significant mortality and morbidity in developing and developed countries (WHO, 2013). Vaccination is currently the mainstay for prevention and is effective at reducing the burden of rotavirus as countries who introduced the vaccine saw a marked drop in rotavirus-associated severe gastroenteritis (WHO, 2009). Currently available Rotarix and RotaTeq vaccines are 85% to 98% effective against severe rotavirus illnesses and associated hospitalizations, and 74% to 87% against rotavirus illnesses of any severity in children under 1 year of age (Cortese & Parashar, 2009). Nevertheless, vaccine efficacy in low-income countries, such as in Africa and Asia, seems to be lower, which could be attributed to factors such as poor nutrition, enteric coinfections, acquiring natural rotavirus infection in young infancy, and interference of maternal antibodies with vaccine response (Madhi et al, 2012; Madhi et al, 2016; Tissera et al, 2017). Vaccine efficacy could be affected by possible immune selection. The wide use of rotavirus vaccines could drive antigenic drifts or shifts of circulating strains towards otherwise less common genotypes, which may not be effectively covered by the available vaccines (Dennehy et al, 2008). For instance, recent studies including one from Lebanon demonstrated an increased prevalence of G9P[8] genotype and the emergence of G9P[4] genotype. This raises concern on the long term efficacy of current RV vaccines and highlights the need for characterizing

these emerging genotypes (Doan et al, 2017; Yamamoto et al, 2015; Yarkin et al, 2016; Chieochansin et al, 2016; Ali et al, 2016).

In this study, we analyzed the full genomes of three G9P[4] and one G9P[8] rotavirus A strains that were identified in Lebanon from 2011-2013.Interestingly, our G9P[4] viruses were not identical at the genomic level. As such, two out of the three G9P[4] viruses possessed a mixed Wa-like/DS-1 like genotype. In contrast to G9P[8] strains which generally possessed a pure Wa-like constellation, the G9P[4] strains from Lebanon and other countries possessed a mixed genomic backbone that was very diverse. In case of G9P[8] strains, intragenotypic reassortments seem to happen more frequently than intergenotypic reassortments.

The emergence of the G9P[4] strain is hypothesized to be the result of reassortment events between the commonly circulating G2P[4] and G9P[6] rotavirus strains or more recently between G2P[4] and the more prevalent G9P[8] viruses (Rahman et al, 2008; Chitambar et al, 2014). Consistently, Lebanese A095 and H017 G9P[4] strains possessed a genomic constellation that was highly similar to G2P[4] rotavirus strains reported from Australia, Japan, Bangladesh and Malawi (Southeastern Africa), while their VP7 was very similar to G9P[8] strains detected in Lebanon and other countries. Similarly, H199 G9P[4] seemed to originate from a reassortment event between G2P[4] and G9P[8] strains, whereby the majority of genes were acquired from the G9P[8] backbone. This supports the suggestion that recent G9P[4] strains are a product of a reassortment event between G2P[4] and G9P[8] strains. Other G9P[4] strains possessing non-DS-1 or Wa-like genes were reported in the United States, Japan, India, and Latin America (Lewis et al, 2014; Yamamoto et al, 2015; Doan et al, 2017; Ruiz-Palacios et al, 2006). This suggests that more than one lineage of G9P[4] has emerged in Lebanon and other countries through independent
reassortment and introduction events. Rotavirus genes tend to remain in unique sets that offer a balanced fitness for the virus (McDonald et al, 2009). The high genomic diversity of the G9P[4] strain suggests that this genotype possesses a flexible genome that has a tendency to accept segments from various backgrounds. Another explanation for this observation is that this genotype is still at its early emergence stage and thus has not yet acquired a stable and fit genomic composition that enables its spread efficiently worldwide as a stable lineage. Furthermore, the fact that the Lebanese strains did not share an identical genomic constellation with global strains could suggest possible de novo emergence of these unique genotypes. Nevertheless, the lack of data on full genome analysis of G9P[4] strains in Lebanon and globally, curtail a definitive conclusion on the source of these rotavirus strains.

The observed reassortment events were all linked to rotavirus strains of human origin emphasizing the importance of human-to-human transmission in the emergence of new strains and their introduction to other countries. The Lebanese NG184 strain shared recent ancestry with another G9P[8] strain (MRC-DPRU842) from Ethiopia. A large population of Ethiopians work in Lebanon as house helps and nannies, which could suggest a potential transmission route for the introduction of novel rotavirus genotypes into these countries.

Furthermore, the VP7 genotype of NG184 G9P[8], H199 G9P[4], and A095 G9P[4] were accommodated in the same cluster as G9P[19] strains of human and porcine origin identified in Thailand (Yodmeeklin et al, 2017). Studies including ours reveal that human G9P[8] possess similar Wa-like genomic constellation as porcine viruses further supporting the role of zoonotic transmission of rotavirus in the emergence of human strains (Matthijnssens et al, 2008).

The emergence of unique and diverse rotavirus genotypes was observed after rotavirus vaccine introduction possibly due to vaccine pressure (Markkula et al, 2017). Nevertheless,

Lebanon did not introduce rotavirus vaccines into their national immunization program and the vaccination rate is relatively low (18.1%) (Ali et al, 2016). As such, the emergence of these unique genotypes could not be solely explained by vaccine pressure locally but rather a global trend that led to the introduction of these new genotypes to Lebanon.

One of G9P[4] specimens in this study originated from a child who was previously vaccinated with the RotaTeq vaccine, but still presented with severe gastroenteritis. While our data remains limited to one case, it might indicate suboptimal protection by the vaccine against this genotype. The VP7 genes of G9P[4] rotaviruses shared highest similarity with VP7 G3 of RotaTeq (80.1% to 83.3%) and with VP4 P[8] of RotaTeq (90.4% to 90.5%). This was in contrast to the Lebanese G9P[8] specimen which shared highest similarity with VP7 G2 of RotaTeq (81.2%) and P[8] of Rotarix (92.2%) (Figure 14). Mutations in the epitopic residues of VP7 and VP4 might influence vaccine efficacy since they play an important role in the binding ability of neutralization antibodies (Estes and Kapikian, 2007; Morozova et al, 2015; Fredj et al, 2013; Ruggeri and Greenberg, 1991; Zhou et al, 1994). In our study, only 34.5% to 62.1% of the epitopic residues of the G9P[4] specimens' VP7 were conserved compared to vaccine G1-G4 strains. In case of the G9P[8] specimen 48.3% to 55.2 % of these residues were similar to the vaccine strain. Regarding the G9P[4] and G9P[8] VP4 epitopes, only 51.3% and 48.6% of the epitopes were conserved, respectively, compared to the P[8] of the vaccines. The globally circulating G2P[4] rotavirus strain has been shown to be associated with rotavirus vaccine breakthrough infections and outbreaks in several countries (Luchs et al, 2017; Tanaka et al, 2017; Matthijnssens et al, 2014). The epitopic residues of the VP7 genotype of Belgian and Tunisian G2P[4] rotavirus strains (Zeller et al, 2011; Ben Hadj Fredj et al, 2013) share 31.04% of the substitutions with our Lebanese strains and 79.3% similarity with VP7 G2 RotaTeq vaccine strain. Whereas the eptiopic residues of the VP4 genotype

of G2P[4] rotavirus strains share 97.03% with our Lebanese strains and 48.6% similarity to vaccine VP4 P[8] RotaTeq. Thus, our G9P[4] rotavirus strains share only 24.5% and 59.4% similarity in the VP7 and VP4 protein, respectively, of G2P[4] RotaTeq vaccine strains, and are therefore likely to be associated with vaccine breakthrough as observed with patient H017.

We can conclude that heterotypic protection via the immunodominant VP6 protein is critical for maintaining the efficacy of current vaccines against G9 rotaviurs A strains (Ruiz-Palacios, 2006; Correia et al, 2010; Yen et al, 2011). However, it should be noted that as G9 strains continue to evolve, the efficacy of the existing vaccines might be undermined (Cheng Xu et al, 2018; Chan-It & Chanta, 2017). Given this evolution and genotypic diversity, further research is needed for fully understand the mechanisms underlying heterotypic protection and how to enhance heterotypic protection of rotavirus vaccines to ensure their s long-term efficacies. Nevertheless, on the short term, adding emerging genotypes such as G9, might aid in controlling rotavirus outbreaks. Such an approach has been already employed in India for instance, where ROTAVAC vaccine with a VP7 G9 component has been introduced into the Universal Immunization Program in 2015 (Bhandari et al, 2014). The development and introduction of a G9-based vaccine is feasible and efficacious due to the fact that the antigenic epitopes within VP7 are highly conserved among the Lebanese and globally representative G9 rotavirus strains.

Our study had a few limitations including the small sample size of the Lebanese G9P[4] specimens hindering significant comparison with other G9 rotavirus strains. However, this was inherent to the fact that the G9P[4] was rarely detected in Lebanon. Moreover, we compensated for the limited number of specimens by including globally reported G9P[4] and G9P[8] strains.

Our data highlight the importance of monitoring the emergence and spread as well as the genomic diversity of G9P[4] as well as other emerging genotypes in Lebanon and other countries

to ensure maintaining the efficacy of existing vaccines. Further studies are needed to better understand the efficacy of current vaccines against emerging genotypes including G9P[4] and G9P[8]. Serum neutralization studies of sera obtained from vaccinated children against these genotypes are also warranted.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

Adams, W., & Kraft, L. (1963). Epizootic diarrhea of infant mice : identification of the etiologic agent. *Science*, 359-360.

Afrikanova, I., Fabbretti, E., Miozzo, M., & Burrone, O. (1998). Rotavirus NSP5 phosphorylation is up-regulated by interaction with NSP2. *J Gen Virol*, *79*, 2679-2686.

Aktinson, W., Hamborsky, J., McIntyre, L., & et al. (2007). CDC. *Epidemiology and Prevention of Vccine-Preventable Diseases*, 295-306. Retrieved from Epidemiology and Prevention of Vaccine-Preventable Diseases.

Al-Ali, R., Chehadeh, W., Hamze, M., Dabboussi, F., Hlais, S., & Mallat, H. (2011). First description of gastroenteritis viruses in Lebanon childrem: A pilot study. *Journal of Infection and Public Health*, 59-64.

Ali, Z. e. (2016). Rotavirus Genotypes and Vaccine Effectiveness from a Sentinel, Hospital-Based, Surveillance Study for Three Consecutive Rotavirus Seasons in Lebanon. *PLOS ONE*.

Allayeh, A., El Baz, R., & Saeed, N. &. (2018). Detection and Genotyping of Viral Gastroenteritis in Hospitalized Children Below Five Years Old in Cairo, Egypt. *J Arch Pediatr*, *6*(3), e60288.

Altenburg, B. C., Graham, D. Y., & Estes, M. K. (1980). Ultrastructural study of rotavirus replication in cultured cells. *J Gen Virol*, *46*, 75-85.

American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP) committee on infectious diseases. (2007). *Pediatrics*, *119*(1), 171-181.

Aoki, S. T., Settembre, E. C., Trask, S. D., & et al. (2009). Structure of rotavirus outer-layer protein VP7 bound with a neutralizing Fab. *Science*, *324*(5933), 1444-1447.

Arista, S., Giovannelli, L., Pistoia, D., & et al. (1990). Electropherotypes, subgroups and serotypes of human rotavirus strains causing gastroenteritis in infants and young children in Palermo, Italy, from 1985 to 1989. *Research in Virol, 141*(4), 435-448.

Au, K., Chan, W., Burns, J. W., & Estes, M. (1989). Receptor activity of rotavirus non-structural glycoprotein NS28. *J Virol*, *63*, 4553-4562.

Au, K., Mattion, N., & Estes, M. (1993). A subviral particle binding domain on the rotavirus nonstructural glycoprotein. *Science*, *194*, 665-673.

Azaran, A., Makvandi, M., Samarbafzadeh, A., & et al. (2016). Study on Rotavirus Infection and Its Genotyping in Children Below 5 Years in South West Iran. *Iran J Pediatr*, *26*(2), e2080. Azevedo, A., Yuan, L., & al, J. K. (2005). Viremia and nasal and rectal shedding of rotavirus in gnotobiotic pigs inoculated with Wa human rotavirus. *J Virol*, 5428-5436.

Babji, S., Arumugam, R., Priyahemavathy, R., & et al. (2017). Genotype distribution of Group A rotavirus from southern India, 2005–2016. *Vaccine*.

Ball, J. M., Tian, P., Zeng, C. Q.-Y., & et al. (1996, April). Age-dependant diarrhea induced by a rotaviral nonstructural glycoprotein. *Science*, *272*(5258), 101-104.

Ball, J., Tian, P., Zeng, C., Morris, A., & Estes, M. (1996). Age-dependent diarrhea induced by a rotaviral nonstructural glycoprotein. *Science*, *272*, 101-104.

Banyai, K., Kemenesi, G., Budinski, I., & et al. (2017). Candidate new rotavirus species in Schreiber's bats, Serbia. *Infection, Genetics and Evolution, 48*, 19-26.

Barnes, G. L., Lund, J. S., Adams, L., & et al. (1997). Phase 1 trial of a candidate rotavirus vaccine (RV3) derived from a human neonate. *J Pediatr Child Health*, *33*, 300-304.

Barnes, G. L., Lund, J. S., Mitchell, S. V., & et al. (2002). Early phase II trial of human rotavirus vaccine candidate RV3. *Vaccine*, *20*(23-24), 2950-2956.

Barro, M., & Patton, J. (2005). Rotavirus nonstructural protein 1 subverts innate immune resoinse by inducing degradation of IFN regulatory factor 3. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, *102*, 4114-4119.

Beards, G. M., Campbell, A. D., Cottrell, N. R., & et al. (1984, February). Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays based on polyclonal and monoclonal antibodies for rotavirus detection. *J Clin Microbiol*, *19*(2), 248-254.

Beards, G., Pilfold, J., Thouless, M., & et al. (1980). Rotavirus serotypes by serum neutralisation. *J Med Virol*, *5*, 231-237.

Ben Hadj Fredj, M., BenHamida-Rebai, M., Heylen, E., & et al. (2013). Sequence and phylogenetic analyses of human rotavirus strains: comparison of VP7 and VP8* antigenic epitopes between Tunisian and vaccine strains before national rotavirus vaccine introduction. *Infection, Genetics and Evolution, 18*, 132-144.

Bernstein, D. (2018). Rotavirus vaccines: mind your Ps and Gs. J Inf Dis, 218(4), 519-521.

Bernstein, D. I., Glass, R. I., Rodgers, G., & et al. (1995). Evaluaion of rhesus rotavirus monovalent and tetravalent reassortant vaccinesin US children. *JAMA*, 273, 1191-6.

Bernstein, D., & Ward, R. (2004). Rotaviruses. In R. Feigin, & J. Cherry, *Textbook of Pediatric Infectious Diseases* (pp. 2110-2133). Philadelphia: PA: Saunders.

Bhandari, N., Temsunaro, R.-C., Ashish, B., & et al. (2014). Efficacy of a monovalent humanbovine (116E) rotavirus vaccine in Indian infants: a randomised, double-blind, placebocontrolled trial. *The Lancet*, *383*(9935), 2136-43.

Bines, J., Thobari, J., Satria, C., & et al. (2018). Human Neonatal Rotavirus Vaccine (RV3-BB) to Target Rotavirus from Birth. *J Med*, *378*, 719-730.

Birch, C., Heath, R., & Gust, I. (1988). Use of serotype-specifi monoclonal antibodies to study the epidemiology of rotavirus infection. *J Med Virol, 24*, 45-53.

Bisaillon, M., & Lemay, G. (1997). Viral and Cellular Enzymes Involved in Synthesis of mRNA Cap Structure. *Virology*, *236*, 1-7.

Bishop, R. F. (1993). Development of candidate rotavirus vaccine. Vaccine, 29, 247-54.

Blanchard, H., Yu, X., Coulson, B., & von Itzstein, M. (2007). Insight into Host Cell Carbohydrate-recognition by Human and Porcine Rotavirus from Crystal Structures of the Virion Spike Associated Carbohydrate-binding Domain (VP8*). *J Molec Biol, 367*(4), 1215-1226.

Blutt, S., Fenaux, M., & Wartfield, K. e. (2006). Active viremia in rotavirus infected mice. *J Virol*, 6702-6705.

Blutt, S., Kirkwood, C., & Parreno, V. e. (2003). Rotavirus antigenaemia and viraemia: a common event? *Lancet*, 1445-1449.

Boyce, T. G. (2017, May). *Merck Manual Prefessional Version*. Retrieved from Overview of Gastroenteritis: http://www.merckmanuals.com/professional/gastrointestinal-disorders/gastroenteritis/overview-of-gastroenteritis

Brandt, C., Kim, H., Rodriguez, W., & et al. (1981). Comparison of direct electron microscopy, immune electron microscopy, and rotavirus enzyme-linked immunosorbent assary for detection of gastroenteritis in children. *J Clin Microbiol, 13*, 976-981.

Brunet, J. P., Cotte-Laffittee, J., Linxe, C., & et al. (2000). Rotavirus Infection Induces an Increase in Intracellular Calcium Concentration in Human Intestinal Epithelial Cells: Role in Microvillar Actin Alteration. *J Virol*, *74*(5), 2323-2332.

Brunet, J., & al, C.-L. J. (2000). Rotavirus infection induces an increase in intracellular calcium concentration in human intestinal epethelial cells: role in microvilar actin alteration. *J Virol*, 2323-2332.

Burnett, E. e. (2017). Global Impact of Rotavirus Vaccination on Childhood Hospitalizationsand Mortality from Diarrhea. *The Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 1666-1672. CDC. (2008). Rotavirus surveillance--worldwide, 2001-2008. *MMWR*, 1255-7.

CDC. (2016, August 12). Retrieved from Rotavirus: https://www.cdc.gov/rotavirus/clinical.html

Chan-It, W., & Chanta, C. (2017). Emergence of G9P[8] rotaviruses in children with acute gastroenteritis in Thailand, 2015-2016. *J Med Virol*, *90*(3), 477-484.

Charpilienne, A., Lepault, J., Rey, F., & Cohen, J. (2002). Identification of rotavirus VP6 residues located at the interface with VP2 that are essential for capsid assembly and transcriptase activity. *J Virol*, *76*, 7822-7831.

Chen, S., Tan, L. B., Huang, L. M., & Chen, K. T. (2012). Rotavirus infection and the current status of rotavirus vaccines. *J of Formosan Med Association*, *111*, 183-193.

Chrystie, C., Madore, H. P., Pichichero, M. E., & et al. (1988). Field trial of rhesus rotavirus vaccine infants. *Pediatr Inf Dis J*, *7*, 645-650.

Chrystie, L., Totterdell, B. M., & Banatvala, J. E. (1978). Asymptomatic endemic rotavirus infections in the newborn. *Lancet*, 11768.

Clark, H. F., Borian, F. E., Bell, L. M., & et al. (1988). Protective effect of WC3 vaccine against rotavirus diarrhea in infants during a predominantly serotype 1 rotavirus season. *J Infect Dis*, *158*, 570-587.

Clark, S., Barnet, B., & Spendlove, R. (1979). Production of high-titer bovine rotavirus with trypsin. *J Clin Microbiol*, *9*, 413-417.

Cochran, W. (2017, February). Merckmanuals. Retrieved April 16, 2018, from Overview of GIdisordersinneonatesandinfants:https://www.merckmanuals.com/professional/pediatrics/gastrointestinal-disorders-in-neonates-and-infants/overview-of-gi-disorders-in-neonates-and-infants

Coffin, S., Elser, J., Marchant, C., & et al. (2006). Impact of acute rotavirus gastroenteritis on pediatric outpatient practices in the United States. *Pediatr Infect Dis J*, *25*, 584-589.

Cohen, J., Laporte, J., Charpilienne, A., & Scherrer, R. (1979). Activation of rotavirus RNA polymerase by calcium chelation. *Arch Virol, 60*, 177-186.

Collaborators, G. 2. (2015). Global, Regional, and national age-sex specific all-cause and causespecific mortality for 240 causes of death, 1990-2013: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013. *Lancet*, 117-71.

Contin, R., Arnoldi, F., Mano, M., & Burrone, O. R. (2011). Rotavirus Replication Requires a Functional Proteasome for Effective Assembly of Viroplasms. *J Virol*, *85*(6), 2781-2792.

Correia, J., Patel, M., Nakagomi, O., & et al. (2010). Effectiveness of Monovalent Rotavirus Vaccine (Rotarix) against Severe Diarrhea Caused by Serotypically Unrelated G2P[4] Strains in Brazil. *J Inf Dis, 201*, 363-369.

Cortese, & Parashar. (2009, February). *Prevention of Rotavirus Gastroenteritis Among Infants and Children Recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP)*. Atlanta: CDC. Retrieved from Division of Viral Diseases, National Center for Immunization and Respiratory Diseases: https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/rr5802a1.htm Coulson, B., Unicomb, L., Pitson, G., & et al. (1987). Simple and specific enzyme immunoassay using monoclonal antibodies for serotyping human rotaviruses. *J Clin Microbiol, 25*, 509-515. Darwin J Operario, J. A.-M. (2017). Etiology of Severe Acute Watery Diarrhea in Children in the Global Rotavirus Surveillance Network using quantitative polymerase chain reaction. *The Journal of Infectios Disease*, 220-227.

Dbaibo, G., Rajab, M., Inati, A., Mikhael, R., Choueiry, E., Al-Tannir, M., . . . De-Antnio, R. (2013). Hospital based surveillance study of rotavirus gastroenteritis in children under 5 years of age in Lebanon. *Trials in Vaccinology*, 25-30.

de Mol, P., Zissis, G., Butzler, J. P., & et al. (1986). Failure of live attenuated oral rotavirus vaccine. *Lancet*, *2*, 108.

de Rougement, A., Kaplon, J., Pillet, S., & et al. (2011). Molecular and Clinical Characterization of Rotavirus From Diarrheal Infants Admitted to Pediatric Emergency Units in France. *Pediatr Inf Dis J*, *30*(2), 118-124.

de Witt, d., Koopmans, M., Kortbeek, L., & al, e. (2001, August 1). Etiology of gastroenteritis in sentinel general practices in the netherlands. *Clin Infect Dis*, *33*(3), 280-288.

de Zoysa & Faechem, R. G. (1985). Interventions for the control of diarrhoeal diseases among young children: rotavirus and cholera immunization. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, *63*(3), 569-583.

Desai, R., de Oliveira, L. H., Parashar, U., & et al. (2011). Reduction in morbidity and mortality from childhood diarrhoeal disease after species a rotavirus vaccine introduction in Latin America-a review. *Memorias do Instituto Oswaldo Cruz, 106*(8), 907-911.

Diorditsa, S., & Gurung, S. (2015, August). *WHO*. Retrieved from Global Immunization News (GIN): http://www.who.int/immunization/GIN_August_2015.pdf

Doan, Y. H., Suzuki, Y., Fuji, Y., & et al. (2017). Complex reassortment events of unusual G9P[4] rotavirus strains in India between 2011 and 2013. *Infections, Genetics and Evolution,* 54, 417-428.

Dong, Y., Zeng, C. Q., Ball, J., Estes, M., & Morris, A. P. (1997, April). The rotavirus enterotoxin NSP4 mobilizes intracellular calcium in human intestinal cells by stimulating phospholipase C-mediated inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate production. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, *94*(8), 3960-3965.

Dormitzer, P. R., Nason, E. B., Venkataram Prasad, B. V., & Harrison, S. C. (2004). Structural rearrangements in the membrane penetratio protein of a non-enveloped virus. *Nature*, *7003*, 1053-8.

Dormitzer, P., Sun, Z., Wagner, G., & Harrison, S. (2002). The rhesus rotavirus VP4 sialic acid binding domain has a galectin fold with a novel carbohydrate binding site. *EMBO J*, *21*(5), 885-897.

Duggan, C; Santosham, M; Glass, R I: Centres for Disease Control and Prevention. (1992). The management of acute diarrhea in children: oral rehydration, maintenance and nutritional therapy. *Morbidity and mortality weekly report*, *41*(RR-16), 1-20.

Durmaz, R., Bekkaloglu, Z., Unaldi, O., & et al. (2017). Prevalence and diversity of rotavirus A genotypes cirulating in Turkey during a 2-year sentinel surveillance period, 2014-2016. *J Med Virol*, 90(2), 229-238.

El Khoury, A., Mast, T. C., Ciarlet, M., & Markson, L. &. (2011). Projecting the effectiveness of RotaTeq® against rotavirus-related hospitalizations and deaths in six Asian countries. *Human vaccines*, 7(5), 506-510.

Esona, M. D., Roy, S., Rungsrisuriyachai, K., & et al. (2017). Characterization of a triplerecombinant, reassortant rotavirus strain from the Dominican Republic. *J Gen Virol*, *98*, 134-142.

Espejo, R., Lopez, S., & Arias, C. (1981). Structural polypeptides of simian rotavirus SA11 and the effect of trypsin . *J Virol*, 156-160.

Estes M, K. A. (2007). Rotavirus. Fields virology, 1917-1974.

Estes MK, K. G. (2001). Pathogenesis of rotavirus gastroenteritis. *Nouvartis Found Symp*, 82-96.

Estes, M. (2001). Rotaviruses and their replication. In B. Fields, R. Knipe, M. Chanock, & et al, *Virology* (pp. 1747-1785). Philadelphia: Lippincott-Raven.

Estes, M. K., & Kapikian, A. Z. (2007). Rotaviruses. In D. Knipe, & P. Howley, *Fields' virology* (p. 1918). Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins .

Estes, M., & Cohen, J. (1989). Rotavirus gene structure and function. *Microbiol Rev*, 53, 410-449.

Estes, M., & Kapikian, A. (2007). Rotaviruses. In M. Knipe, & P. Howley, *Fields Virology* (pp. 1917-1974). Philadelphia: Lippincott/Williams & Wilkins.

Estes, M., Graham, D., & Mason, B. (1981). Proteolytic enhancement of rotavirus infectivity: molecular mechanisms. *J Virol*, 879-888.

Flewett, T. H., Bryden, A. S., & Heather, D. (1973). Virus particles in gastroenteritis. *The Lancet*, 302(7844), 1497.

Flewett, T., Bryden, A., Davies, H., & et al. (1974). Relation between viruses from acute gastroenteritis of children and newborn calves. *Lancet*, *2*, 61-63.

Flewett, T., Bryden, A., Davies, H., & et al. (1974, July 13). Relation between viruses from acute gastroenteritis of children and newborn calves. *The Lancet*, *304*(7872), 61-63.

Flores, J., Perez-Schael, I., Blanco, M., & et al. (1989). Reactions to and Antigenicity of Two Human-Rhesus Rotavirus Reassortant Vaccine Candidates of Serotypes 1 and 2 in Venezuelan Infants. *J Clin Microbiol*, *27*(3), 512-518.

Flores, J., Perez-Schael, I., Boeggeman, E., & et al. (1985). Genetic relatedness among human rotavirus. *J Med Virol*, *17*, 135-143.

Friesma, M. P., de Boer, R. F., Duizer, E., & et al. (2012, November). Aetiology of acute gastroenteritis in adults requiring hospitalization in The Netherlands. *Epidemiol Infect, 140*, 1780-1786.

Gelaw, A., Pietsch, C., & Liebert, U. (2018). Molecular epidemiology of rotaviruses in Northwest Ethiopia after national vaccine introduction. *Infection, Genetics and Evolution, 65*, 300-307.

Gentsch, J., Glass, R., Woods, P., & et al. (1992). Identification of Group A Rotavirus Gene 4 Types by Polymerase Chain Reaction. *J Clin Microbiol*, *30*(6), 1365-1373.

Gerasimenko, J., Tepikein, A., Peterson, O., & Gerasimenko, O. (1998). Calcium uptake via endocytosis with rapid release from acidifying endosomes. *Curr Biol*, *8*, 1335-1338.

Giammarioli, A. M., Mackow, E. R., Fiore, L., & et al. (1996). Production and characterization of murine IgA monoclonal antibodies to the surface antigens of rhesus rotavirus. *Virology*, *225*, 97-110.

Giri, S., Hemavathy, P., Arumugam, R., & et al. (2018). Molecular epidemiology of rotaviruses in the south-east Asian region from 2009 to 2015. *Vaccine*.

Glass, R. I., Bhan, M. K., Ray, P., & et al. (2005). Development of Candidate Rotavirus Vaccines Derived from Neonatal Strains in India. *Oxford J*, *192*(S1), S30-S35.

Graham, K. L., & et al. (2003). J Virol, 77, 9969.

Haeselhorst, T., Fleming, F., Dyason, J., & et al. (2009). Sialic acid dependence in rotavirus host cell invasion. *Nature Chemical Biology*, *5*(2), 91-93.

Heaton, P. M., & Ciarlet, M. (2007). The Pentavalent Rotavirus Vaccine: Discovery to Licensure and Beyond. *Clin Inf Dis*, 45(12), 1618-1624.

Hemming, M., Huhti, L., Rasanen, S., & et al. (2014). Rotavirus Antigenemia in Children is Associated With More Severe Clinical Manifestations of Acute Gastroenteritis. *Ped J Inf Dis*, 366-371.

Hochwald, C., & Kivela, L. (1999, April). Rotavirus vaccine, live, oral, tetravalent (Rotashield). *Pediatric Nursing*, *25*(2), 203.

Hoque, S., Kobayashi, M., Takanashi, S., & et al. (2018). Role of rotavirus vaccination on an emerging G8P[8] rotavirus strain causing an outbreak in central Japan. *Vaccine*, *36*(1), 43-49.
Hoshino, Y., & Kapikian, A. Z. (1996). Classification of rotavirus VP4 and VP7 serotypes. In

S. Chiba, M. K. Estes, S. Nakata, & C. H. Calisher, *Viral Gastroenteritis* (Vol. 12, pp. 99-111). Vienna: Springer.

Howidi, M., Balhaj, G., Yaseen, H., & et al. (2014). Burden and genotyping of rotavirus disease in the United Arab Emirates. *Human Vaccines & Immunotherapeutics*, *10*(8), 2284-2289.

Hung, T., Chen, G., Wang, C., & et al . (1983). Rotavirus-like agent in adult non bacterial diarrhoea in China. *Lancet*, *2*, 1078-1079.

Ianiro, G., Heylen, E., Delogu, R., Zeller, M., Matthijnssens, J., Ruggern, F., . . . Fiore, L. (2013). Genetic diversity of G9P[8] rotavirus strains circulating in Italy in 2007 and 2010. *Infection, Genetics and Evolution*, 426–432.

Ianiro, G., Recanatini, C., D'Errico, M., & et al. (2018). Uncommon G9P[4] group A rotavirus strains causing dehydrating diarrhea in young children in Italy. *Infection, Genetics and Evolution, 64*, 57-64.

International Vaccine Access Center. (2014). *VIMS report: global vaccine introductio*. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health. Retrieved from http://www.jhsph.edu/research/centers-and-institutes/ivac/vims/IVAC-VIMS-Report-2014-

Mar.pdf

Jarayam, H., Estes, M. K., & Prasad, B. V. (2004). Emerging themes in rotavirus cell entry, genome organization, transcription and replication. *Virus Research*, *101*(1), 67-81.

Jorba, J., Diop, O. M., Iber, J., Henderson, E., Sutter, R., & Burns, S. W. (2017, November 3). *WHO*. Retrieved from Weekly Epidemiological record: http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/259393/1/WER9244.pdf

Jourdan, N., Cotte, L., & Forestier, F. e. (1995). Infection of cultured human intestinal cells by monkey RRV and human Wa rotavirus as a function of intestinal epithelial cell differentiation. *Virus Res*, 352-331.

Kabcenell, A., Poruchynsky, M., & Bellamy, A. e. (1988). Two forms of VP7 are involved in assembly of SA11 rotavirus in endoplasmic reticulum. *J Virol*, 2929-2941.

Kalica, A., Greenberg, H., Wyatt, R., & et al. (1981). Genes of Human (Strain Wa) and Bovine (Strain UK) Rotaviruses That Code for Neutralization and Subgroup Antigens. *Virology*, *112*, 385-390.

Kang, Y. &. (2018). Epidemiology and Genetic Diversity of Rotavirus in Kunming, China, in 2015. *Intervirology*, *61*(1), 9-13.

Kapikain, A., Wyatt, R., & Dolin, R. (1972). Visualization by immune electron microscopy of a 27-nm particle associated with acute infectious nonbacterial gastroenteritis. *J Virology*, 1075-1081.

Kapikain, A., Wyatt, R., Levine, M., & al, e. (1983). Oral administration of human rotavirus to volunteers: induction of illness and correlates of resistance. *J Inect Dis*, *147*, 95-106.

Kapikian, A. (1993). Viral Gastroeneteritis . 627-629: JAMA.

Kapikian, A. Z., Cline, W. L., Greenberg, H. B., & et al. (1981). Antigenic characterization of human and animal rotaviruses by immune adherence hemagglutination assay (IAHA): evidence for distinctness of IAHA and neutralization antigens. *Infect Immun*, *33*(2), 415-425.

Kapikian, A. Z., Hoshino, Y., & Chanock, R. M. (2001). Rotaviruses. In D. M. Knipe, P. M. Howley, D. E. Griffin, & et al, *Fields Virology 4th ed.* (pp. 1787-1833). Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.

Kapikian, A., Kim, H., & Wyatt, R. e. (1974). Reoviruslike agent in stools: association with infantile diarrhea and development of serologic tests. *Science*, 1049-1053.

Kapikian, A., Wyatt, R., Dolin, R., & et al. (1972, November). Visualization by immune electron microscopy of a 27-nm particle associated with acute infectious nonbacterial gastroenteritis. *J Virol*, *10*(5), 1075-1081.

Kaplon, J., Grangier, N., Pillet, S., & et al. (2018). Predominance of G9P[8] rotavirus strains throughout France, 2014–2017. *Clin Microbiol and Inf, 24*(6), 660.e1-660.e4.

Kim, H., Brandt, C., Kapikain, A., & et al. (1977). Human reovirus-like age infection. Occurence in adult contacts of pediatric patients with gastroenteritis. *JAMA*, *238*, 404-407. Kirkwood, C., Ma, L., Carey, M., & Steele, D. (2017). The rotavirus vaccine development pipeline. *Vaccine*, xxx-xxx. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2017.03.076 Kiseleva, V., Faizuloev, E., Meskina, E., & et al. (2018). Molecular-Genetic Characterization of Human Rotavirus A Strains Circulating in Moscow, Russia (2009–2014). *Virologica Sinica, 33*(4), 304-313.

Kohler, P. F., & Farr, R. S. (1967). Elevation of cord over maternal igg immunoglobulin: Evidence for an active placental igg transport. *Obstetrical and Gynecological Survey*, 22(5), 718-720.

Kosek, M., Bern, C., & Guerrant, R. (2003). The global burden of diarrhoeal disease, as estimated from studies published between 1992 and 2000. *World Health Organization. Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, *81*(3), 197-204.

Kotirum, S., Vutipongsatorn, N., Kongpakwattana, K., & et al. (2017). Global economic evaluations of rotavirus vaccines: A systematic review. *Vaccine*, *35*, 3364-3386.

Kumar, S., Stecher, G., & Tamura, K. (2016). MEGA7: Molecular Evolutionary Genetics Analysis Version 7.0 for Bigger Datasets. *Mol Biol Evol*, *33*(7), 1870-1874. doi:10.1093/molbev/msw054

Lanata, C., & et al. (2013). Global causes of diarrheal disease mortality in children <5 years of age: a systematic review. *PLoS One*.

Lartey, B., Damanka, S., Dennis, F., et al, & et al. (2018). Rotavirus strain distribution in Ghana pre- and post- rotavirus vaccine introduction. *Vaccine*.

Lekana-Douki, S., Kombila-Koumavor, C., Nkoghe, D., & et al. (2015). Molecular epidemiology of enteric viruses and genotyping of rotavirus A, adenovirus and astrovirus among children under 5 years old in Gabon. *Intern J Inf Dis, 34*, 90-95.

Lewis, K. (2011, May 2). *PATH*. Retrieved from Vesikari clinical severity coring system manual: https://path.azureedge.net/media/documents/VAD_vesikari_scoring_manual.pdf Lie, K., Lin, X. D., Huang, K. Y., & et al. (2016, July). Identification of novel and diverse rotaviruses in rodents and insectivores, and evidence of cross-species transmission into humans. *Virology*, *494*, 168-177.

Lopez, S., Espinosa, R., Greenberg, H., & et al. (1994). Mapping of the subgroup epitopes of rotavirus protein VP6. *Virology*, *204*, 153-162.

Lopez, T., Camacho, M., & Zayas, M. e. (2005). Silencing the morphogenesis of rotavirus . *J Virol*, 184-192.

Lopez-Tort, L., Victoria, M., Lizasoain, A., & et al. (2015). Molecular epidemiology of group a rotavirus among children admitted to hospital in Salto, Uruguay, 2011-2012: First detection of the emerging genotype G12. *J Med Virol*, *87*(5), 754-763.

Luchs, A., Madalosso, G., Cilli, A., & et al. (2017). Outbreak of G2P[4] rotavirus gastroenteritis in a retirement community, Brazil, 2015: An important public health risk? *Geriatric Nursing*, *38*(4), 283-290.

Ludert, J. E., Mason, B. B., Angel, J., & et al. (1998). Identification of mutations in the rotavirus protein VP4 that alter sialic-acid-dependant infection. *J Gen Virol*, *79*, 725-729.

Ludert, J., Michelangeli, F., Gil, F., & et al. (1987). Penetration and uncoating of rotavirus in cultured cells. *Intervirology*, 95-101.

Lundgren, O., Peregrin, A., Persson, K., & et al. (2003). The enteric nervous system and infectious diarrhea. In U. Desselberger, J. Gray, & eds, *Viral Gastroenteritis* (pp. 51-68). Amsterdam: Elsevier Science.

Lynch, M., Shieh, W. J., Tatti, K., & et al. (2003). The Pathology of Rotavirus-Associated Deaths, using new molecular diagnostics. *Clin Infect Dis*, *37*, 1327-33.

Mackow, E. R., & et al. (1988). J Virol, 165, 511.

Madhi, S., Cunliffe, N., Steele, D., & et al. (2010). Effect of human rotavirus vaccine on severe diarrhea in African infants. *N Engl J Med*, *362*(4), 289-298.

Madhi, S., Kirsten, M., Louw, C., & et al. (2012). Efficacy and immunogenicity of two or three dose rotavirus-vaccine regimen in South African children over two consecutive rotavirus-seasons: A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *Vaccine*, *30*(1), A44-A51.

Markkula, J., Hemming-Harlo, M., Salminen, M., & et al. (2017). Rotavirus epidemiology 5-6 years after universal rotavirus vaccination: persistent rotavirus activity in older children and elderly. *Infectious diseases, 49*(5), 388-395.

Mathieu, M., Petitpas, I., Navaza, J., & et al. (2001, April). Atomic structure of the major capsid protein of rotavirus: implications for the architecture of the virion. *EMBO J*, *20*(7), 1485-1497. Matsui, S., Mackow, E., & Greenberg, H. (1989). Molecular determinant of rotavirus neutralization and protection. *Advances in virus research*, *36*, 181-214.

Matthijjnsens, J., & Ranst, M. V. (2011). Genotype constellation and evolution of group A rotaviruses infecting humans. *Current opinion in virology*, *2*(4), 426-433.

Matthijnssens J., T. S. (2015, October 9). *Ku Leuven*. Retrieved from Virus Classification: https://rega.kuleuven.be/cev/viralmetagenomics/virus-classification

Matthijnssens, J., Ciarlet, M., & McDonald, S. M. (2011, August). Uniformity of rotavirus strain nomenclature proposed by the Rotavirus Classification Working Group (RCWG). *Arch Virol, 156*(8), 1397-1413.

Matthijnssens, J., Ciarlet, M., Heiman, E., & et al. (2008). Full genome-based classification of rotaviruses reveals a common origin between human Wa-Like and porcine rotavirus strains and human DS-1-like and bovine rotavirus strains. *J Virol*, 3204-3219.

Matthijnssens, J., M, Z., E, H., & et al. (2014). Higher proportion of G2P[4] rotaviruses in vaccinated hospitalized cases compared with unvaccinated hospitalized cases, despite high vaccine effectiveness against heterotypic G2P[4] rotaviruses. *Clin Microbiol and Inf, 20*(10), 0702-0710.

Mattion, N. M., Mitchell, D. B., Both, G. W., & et al. (1991). Expression of rotavirus proteins encoded by alternative open reading frames of genome fragment 11. *Virology*, *181*, 295-304.

McCrae, M., & Faulkner, V. (1981). Molecular biology of rotaviruses. Characterization of basic growth parameters and pattern of macromolecular synthesis. *J Virol, 39*, 490-496.

McDonald, S., Matthijnssens, J., McAllen, J., & et al . (2009). Evolutionary Dynamics of Human Rotaviruses: Balancing Reassortment with Preferred Genome Constellations. *PLOS Pathogens*, *5*(10), e1000634.

Meyer, J., Bergmann, C., & Bellam, A. (1989). Interaction of rotavirus cores with the nonstructural glycoprotein NS28. *Virology*, *171*, 98-107.

Middleton, P., Szymanski, M., & Abbott, G. (1974). Orbivirus acute gastroenteritis of infancy. *Lancet*, 1241-1244.

Mihalov-Kovács, E., Gellért, A., Marton, S., & et al. (2015). Candidate New Rotavirus Species in Sheltered Dogs, Hungary. *Emerging Inf Dis*, *21*(4), 660-663.

Morischima, T., Ichikawa, T., Yamaguchi, H., & et al. (1978). Acute infantile gastroenteritis caused by Rotavirus in Japan. *Eur J Pediatr*, *72*, 259-265.

Morris, A. P., Scott, J. K., Ball, J. M., & et al. (1999). NSP4 elicits age-dependent diarrhea and Ca2+mediated I– influx into intestinal crypts of CF mice. *Amer J Physiol*, 277(2), G431–G444. Moussa, A., Fredj, M., Fodha, I., & et al. (2016). Distribution of rotavirus VP7 and VP4 genotypes circulating in Tunisia from 2009 to 2014: Emergence of the genotype G12. *J Med Microbiol*, 65(9), 1028-1037.

N, S. (2005). Global distribution of rotavirus serotypes/genotypes and its implication for the development and implementation of an effective rotavirus vaccine. *Rev Med Virol*, 29-56.

Nguyen, D. D. (2013, September 123). *Medscape*. Retrieved from Rotavirus: https://emedicine.medscape.com/article/803885-overview#a5

Ope, M., Nyoka, R., Unusher, A., & et al. (2017, Jun). Evaluation of the Field Performance of ImmunoCard STAT!® Rapid Diagnostic Test for Rotavirus in Dadaab Refugee Camp and at the Kenya–Somalia Border. *American J Tropical Medicine Hygiene*, *96*(6), 1302-1306.

Operario, D., Platts-Mills, J., Nadan, S., Page, N., & et al. (2017). Etiology of Severe Acute Watery Diarrhea in Children in the Global Rotavirus Surveillance Network Using Quantitative Polymerase Chain Reaction. *J Inf Dis*, 220-227.

Organization, W. H. (2013, January). Rotavirus vaccines. *Wkly Epidemiol Rec, 88*, 49-64. Retrieved from Rotavirus vaccines: http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/242024/WER8805_49-64.PDF?sequence=1 O'Ryan, G. M., Ashkenazi-Hoffnung, L., O'Ryan-Soriano, M., & Ashkenazi, S. (2014, May). Management of acute infectious diarrhea for children living in resource limited settings. *Expert Rev Anti Infect Ther, 12*(5), 621-632.

OzFoodNet Working Group. (2015). Monitoring the incidence and causes of diseases potentially transmitted by food in Australia: Annual report of the OzFoodNet network, 2011. *Communicable Diseases Intelligence Quarterly Report, 39*(2), E236-E264.

Palihawadana, P., Kang, G., Navaratnasingam, J., & et al. (2018). Rotavirus infection among hospitalized children under five years of age with acute watery diarrhea in Sri Lanka. *Vaccine*. *Pan American Health Organization*. (2010, March 23). Retrieved June 26, 2018, from Epidemiological alert: Rotavirus diarrheal syndrome: http://www1.paho.org/hq/dmdocuments/2010/epi_alerts_2010_23_March_rotavirus.pdf

Pang, X. L., Lee, B., Boroumand, N., & et al. (2004). Increased detection of rotavirus using a real time reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) assay in stool specimens from children with diarrhea. *J Med Virol*, 72(3), 496-501.

Parashar, U., Gibson, C., Bressee, J., & Glass, R. (2006, February). Rotavirus and severe childhood diarrhea. *Emerg Infect Dis*, *12*(2), 304-306.

Parashar, U., Holman, R., Clarke, M., & et al. (1998, January). Hospitalizations associated with rotavirus diarrhea in the United States, 1993 through 1995: Surveillance Based on the new ICD-9-CM rotavirus-specific diagnostic code. *Oxford Journals*, *177*(1), 13-17.

Parashar, U., Hummelman, E., Breese, J., Miller, M., & Glass, R. (2003). Global illness and deaths caused by rotavirus disease in children . *Emerg Infect Dis*, 565-72.

Pesavento, J., Crawford, S., Estes, M., & Venkataram Prasad, B. (2006). Rotavirus Proteins: Structure and Assembly. In R. P. (eds), *Reoviruses: Entry, Assembly and Morphogenesis. Current Topics in Microbiology and Immunology* (Vol. 309, pp. 189-219). Berlin, Heidelberg : Springer. Petrie, B., Graham, D., Hanssen, H., & et al. (1982). Localization of rotavirus antigens in infected cells by ultrastructural immunocytochemistry. *J Gen Virol*, *16*, 20-28.

Petrie, B., Greenberg, H., Graham, D., & et al. (1984). Ultrastructural localization of rotavirus antigens using colloidal gold. *Virus Res*, *1*, 133-152.

Pickering, L., Bartlett, A., Reves, R., & et al. (1988). Asymptomatic excretion of rotaviruses before and after rotavirus diarrhea in children in day care centers. *J Pediatr*(29), 361-365.

Piron, M., Delaunay, T., Grosclaude, J., & Poncet, D. (1999). Identification of the RNAbinding, dimerization, and eIF4GI-binding domainsof rotavirus nonstuctural protein NSP3. *J Virol*, *73*, 5411-5421.

Piron, M., Vende, P., Cohen, J., & Poncet, D. (1998). Rotavirus RNA -binding protein NSP3 interacts with eIF4GI and evicts the poly(A) binding proein from eIF4F. *EMBO J*, *17*, 5811-5821.

Prasad, B. V., & Estes, M. K. (1997). Molecular basis of rotavirus replication: structure-function correlations. In W. Chiu, R. Burnett, & R. Garcia, *Structural biology of viruses* (pp. 239-268). New York: Oxford University Press.

Prasad, B. V., Burns, J. W., Marietta, E., & et al. (1990, February). Localization of VP4 Neutralization Sites in Rotavirus by Three-Dimensional Cryo-Electron Microscopy. *Nature*, *343*(6257), 476-9.

Prasad, B. V., Rothnagel, R., Zeng, C. Q.-Y., & et al. (1996, August). Visualization of ordered genomic RNA and localization of transcriptional complexes in rotavirus. *Nature*, *382*(6590), 471-3.

Prasad, B. V., Wang, G. J., Clerx, J. P., & Chiu, W. (1988). Three-dimensional Structure of Rotavirus. *J Mol Biol*, *199*, 269-275.

Prasad, K., Sajjad, D., Tushar, T., & et al. (2017). A randomized Phase III clinical trial to assess the efficacy of a bovine-human reassortant pentavalent rotavirus vaccine in Indian infants. *Vaccine*, *35*(45), 6228-6237.

Prescilla, R. P. (2016, May 27). *Medscape*. Retrieved from Pediatric Gastroenteritis: https://emedicine.medscape.com/article/964131-overview#a6

Ramig, R. (1982). Isolation and genetic characterization of temperature-sensitive mutants of simian rotavirus SAIL. *J Virology*, *120*, 93-105.

Richardson, S., Grimwood, K., Gorrell, R., & et al. (1998). Extended excretion of rotavirus after severe diarrhoea in young children. *The Lancet*, *351*(9119), 1844-8.

Richardson, S., Mercer, L., Sonza, S., & et al. (1986). Intracellular localization of rotaviral proteins. *Arch Virol*, 88, 251-264.

Rodriguez, W., Kim, H. W., D, B. C., & et al. (1978). Sequential enteric illnesses associated with different rotavirus serotypes. *Lancet*, ii: 37.

Ruggeri, F. M., & Greenberg, H. B. (1991). Antibodies to the trypsin cleavage peptide VP8 neutralize rotavirus by inhibiting binding of virions to target cells in culture. *J Virol, 65*, 2211-2219.

Ruiz, M. C., Cohen, J., & Michelangeli, F. (2000). Role of Ca2+ in the replication and pathogenesis of rotavirus and other viral infections. *Cell Calcium*, 28(3), 137-149.

Ruiz, M., Abad, M., Charpilienne, A., & et al. (1997). Cell lines susceptible to infection are permeabilized by cleaved and solubilized outer layer proteins of rotavirus. *J Gen Virol*, 78, 2883-2893.

Ruiz, M., Leon, T., Diaz, Y., & Michelangeli, F. (2009). Molecular Biology of Rotavirus Entry and Replication. *Scientific World J*, *9*, 1476-1497.

Ruiz-Palacios, G., Perez-Schael, I., Velazquez, F., & et al. (2006). Safety and efficacy of an attenuated vaccine against severe rotavirus gastroenteritis. *N Engl J Med*, *354*, 11-22.

Ruuska, T. (1990). Rotavirus disease in Finnish children: use of numerical scores for clinical severity of diarrhoeal episodes. *Scandinavian J Inf Dis*, 22(3), 259-267.

Santos, N. (2005). Global distribution of rotavirus serotypes/genotypes and its implication for the development and implementation of an effective rotavirus vaccine. *Rev Med Virol*, 29-56.

Sasaki, S., Horie, Y., Nakagomi, T., Osteo, M., & Nakagomi, O. (2001). Group C rotavirus NSP4 induces diarrhea in neonatal mice. *Arch Virol, 146*, 801-806.

Scott, A. T., Ethan, C. S., Shane, D. T., & et al. (2009, Jun). Structure of rotavirus outer-layer protein VP7 bound with a neutralizing Fab. *Science*, *324*(5933), 1444-1447.

Seiji, Y., Atsushi, K., Atsushi, O., Hideyuki, K., & Nobuhiro, I. (2015). Detection and Characterization of a Human G9P[4] Rotavirus Strain in Japan. *Journal of Medical Virology*, 1311–1318.

Shaw, A. L., Rothnagel, R., Chen, D., & et al. (1993, August). Three-Dimensional Visualization of the Rotavirus Hemagglutinin Structure. *Cell*, *74*, 693-701.

Silvestri, L. S., Taraporewala, Z. F., & F, P. J. (2004). Rotavirus Replication: Plus-Sense Templates for Double-Stranded RNA Synthesis Are Made in Viroplasms. *J Virol*, *78*(14), 7763-7774.

Silvestri, L., Tortorici, A., & Vasque-Del Carpio, R. e. (2005). Rotavirus glycoprotein NSP4 is a modulator of viral transcription in the infected cell. *J Virol*, 15165-15174.

Southern Cross. (2018, February). Retrieved from Gatroenteritis- causes, symptoms, treatment: https://www.southerncross.co.nz/group/medical-library/gastroenteritis-causes-symptomstreatment

Steele, A. D., Neuzil, K. M., Cunliffe, N. A., & et al. (2012). Human rotavirus vaccine Rotarix[™] provides protection against diverse circulating rotavirus strains in African infants: a randomized controlled trial. *BMC Inect Dis*, *12*(1), 213. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2334-12-213

Tanaka, T., Kamiya, H., Asada, K., & et al. (2017). Changes in Rotavirus Genotypes before and after Vaccine Introduction: a Multicenter, Prospective Observational Study in Three Areas of Japan. *Japanese J Inf Dis*, *70*(4), 448-452.

Taniguchi, K., Urasawa, T., Morita, Y., & et al. (1987). Direct serotyping of human rotavirus in stools by an enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay using serotype1-,2-,3-, and 4-specific monoclonal antibodies to VP7. *J Infect Dis*, *155*, 1159-1166.

Tate, J., Burton, A., Boshi-Pinto, C., & et al. (2016, March). Global, Regional, and National Estimates of Rotavirus Mortality in Children <5 years of age, 2000-2013. *Clin Infect Dis*, 62, S96-S105.

Tatte, V. S., Chaphekar, D., & Gopalkrishna, V. (2017). Full genome analysis of rotavirus G9P[8] strains identified in acute gastroenteritis cases reveals genetic diversity: Pune, western India. *Journal*, 1354–1363.

Than, T., Baek, I. H., & Kim, W. (2013). Whole genomic analysis reveals the co-evolutionary phylodynamics of Korean G9P[8] human rotavirus strains. *Arch Virol*, 1795-1803.

The World Health Organization. (2009). Rotavirus vaccines: an update. *Wkly Epidemiol Rec*, 84, 533-537.

Tian, P., Ball, J., Zeng, C., & Estes, M. (1996). Rotavirus protein expression is important for virus assembly and pathogenesis. *Arch Virol Suppl, 12*, 69-77.

Tissera, M. S., Cowley, D., Bogdanovic-Sakran, N., & et al. (2017). Options for improving effectiveness of rotavirus vaccines in developing countries. *Human Vaccines & Immunotherapeutics*, *13*(4), 921-927.

Torres-Vega, M., Gonzalez, R., & Duarte, M. e. (2000). The C-terminal domain of rotavirus NSO5 is essential for its multimerization, hyperphosphorylation and interaction with NSP6. *J gen Virol*, 821-830.

Totterdell, B. M., Chrystie, I. L., & Banatvala, J. E. (1980). Cord blood and breast-milk antibodies in neonatal infection. *British Med J*, 828-830.

Trang, N., Vu, H., Le, N., & et al. (2014). Association between norovirus and rotavirus infection and histo-blood group antigen types in vietnamese children. *J Clin Microbiol*, JCM-02927.

Vaishnavi, C. (2013). Rotavirus Diarrhea. In C. Vaishnavi, *Infections of the gastrointestinal system* (p. 322). New Delhi, India: Jaypee brothers medical publishers (P) LTD .

Vesikari, T. G. (2006). Clinical trials of rotavirus vaccines in Europe. *Pediatr.Infect.Dis.J*, 25(1), S42-S47.

Vesikari, T., Isolauri, E., Delem, A., & et al. (1985). Clinical efficacy of the RIT 4237 live attenuated bovine rotavirus vaccine in infants vaccinated before a rotavirus epidemic. *J Pediatr*, *107*(2), 189-194.

Vesikari, T., Karvanen, A., Prymula, R., & et al. (2007). Efficacy of human rotavirus vaccine against rotavirus gastroenteritis during the first 2 years of life in European infants: randomised, double-blind controlled study. *Lancet*, *370*, 1757-63.

Vesikari, T., Malson, D. O., Dennehy, P., & et al. (2006). Rotavirus Efficacy and Safety Trial (REST) Study Team. Safety and efficacy of a pentavalent human-bovine (WC3) reassortant rotavirus vaccine. *N Engl J Med*, *354*, 23-33.

Wandera, E., Mohammad, S., Komoto, S., & et al. (2016). Molecular epidemiology of rotavirus gastroenteritis in Central Kenya before vaccine introduction, 2009–2014. *J Med Virol, 89*(5), 809-817.

Ward, R. L., & Bernstein, D. I. (2009). Rotarix: A Rotavirus Vaccine for the World. *Clin Inf Dis*, 48(2), 222-228.

Ward, R. L., Bernstein, D. I., Young, E. C., & et al. (1986, November). Human Rotavirus Studies in Volunteers: Determination of Infectious Dose and Serological Response to Inf. *J Inf Dis*, *154*(5), 871-880.

Ward, R., Bernstein, D., Young, E., & et al. (1989). Human rotavirus studies in volunteers: determination of infectious dose and serological response to infection. *J Inf Dis*(154), 871-880. *WHO*. (2008). Retrieved from WHO Statistical Information System: http://www.who.int/whosis/whostat/2008/en/index.html

WHO. (2017, December). Retrieved from Immunization, Vaccines and Biologicals: http://www.who.int/immunization_monitoring/burden/ChildRota2008.xls

WHO. Immuniztion, Vaccines and Biologicals. (2018). Retrieved from Estimated rotavirus deaths for children under 5 years of age: 2013, 215 000: http://www.who.int/immunization/monitoring_surveillance/burden/estimates/rotavirus/en/
Willoughby, R., & Yolken, R. (1990). SA11 rotavirus is specifically inhibited by an acetylated

World Health Organization. (2013). Rotavirus vaccines. WHO position paper - January 2013. *Wkly Epidemiol Rec*, 88(5), 49-64.

sialic acid. J Inf Dis, 161, 116-119.

Wyatt, R., Greenberg, H. J., & et al. (1982). Definition of Human Rotavirus Serotypes by Plaque Reduction Assay. *Inf and Immun, 37*(1), 110-115.

Xu, C., Fu, J., Ai, J., & et al. (2018). Phylogenetic analysis of human G9P[8] rotavirus strains circulating in Jiangsu, China between 2010 and 2016. *J Med Virol*, *90*(9), 1461-1470.

Yamamoto, S. P., Kaida, A., Ono, A., & et al. (2015). Detection and Characterization of a Human G9P[4] Rotavirus Strain in Japan. *J Med Virol*, 87, 1311-1318.

Yarkin, F., Yildirim, D., Celik, U., & et al. (2016). The distribution of Rotavirus G and P genotypes in children with acute gastroenteritis in Cukurova region, Turkey. *J Immunol Clin Microbiol*, *1*(1), 3-9.

Yodmeeklin, A., Khamrin, P., Chuchaona, W., & et al. (2017). Anlaysis of complete genome sequences of G9P[19] rotavirus strains from human and piglet with diarrhea provides evidence for whole-genome interspecies transmission of nonreassorted porcine rotavirus. *Infection, Genetics and Evolution, 47*, 99-108.

Yolken, M., Melnick, I., Blattner, R., & et al. (1970). The association of viruses and bacteria with infantile diarrhea. *Am J Epidemiol*, *92*, 33-39.

Yolken, R. H., Wyatt, R. G., Zissis, G., & et al. (1978). Epidemiology of human rotavirus types 1 and 2 as studied by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay. *N Engl J Med*, 299, 1156-1161.

Yolken, R., Arango-Jaramillo, A., J, E., & et al. (1988). Lack of genomic reassortment following infection of infant rats with group A and group B rotaviruses. *J Infect Dis*, *158*, 1120-1123.

Zaraket, H., Charide, R., Kreidieh, K., & Dbaibo, G. &. (2017). Update on the epidemiology of rotavirus in the Middle East and North Africa. *Vaccine Kidlington*, 6047-6058.

Zeller, M., Patton, J., Heylen, E., & et al. (2012). Genetic analyses reveal differences in the VP7 and VP4 antigenic epitopes between human rotaviruses circulating in Belgium and Rotaviruses in Rotarix and RotaTeq. *J Clin Microbiol*, *50*(3), 966-976.

Zheng, B. J., Chang, R. X., Ma, G. Z., & et al. (1991). Rotavirus infection of the oropharynx and respiratory tract in young children. *J Med Virol*, *34*, 29-37.

Zhou, Y. J., Morita, J. W., & Tanaka, T. a. (1994). Localization of rotavirus VP4 neutralization epitopes involved in antibody-induced conformational changes of virus structure. *J Virol, 68*, 3955-3964.